

Institut : Sciences et Technologie N° d'ordere : Matricule : M59/2016 Eurer Universitaire Abdelhafid Boussouf Mila

Département: Mathématiques et informatique

<u>୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭</u>୭

ବିତ୍ତି ବିତ୍ତି କିତ୍ତି କ

www.centre-univ-mila.dz



Présentée pour l'obtention du Diplôme de Doctorat LMD

Bifurcations et chaos dans un

système fractionnaire

Préparée par : Bourafa Safa Dire

Directeur de thèse: Mohammed-Salah Abdelouahab

Filière : Mathématiques

Spécialité: Mathématiques et Applications

N°	Nom & Prénom	Grade	Université	Designation
1	Hamri Nasr-Eddine	Professeur	Centre Univ. de Mila	Président
2	Mohammed-Salah Abdelouahab	Professeur	Centre Univ. de Mila	Rapporteur
3	Halim Yacine	M.C.A	Centre Univ. de Mila	Examinateur
4	Bellour Azzeddine	M.C.A	E.N.S. de Constantine	Examinateur
5	Berkane Abdelhak	Professeur	Université des Frères Mentouri	Examinateur

Année Universitaire: 2020/2021

Centre UniversitaireAbdelhafid BOUSSOUF – MILA ⊠ BP 26 RP Mila 43000 Algérie ☎031 450041 昌031 450040 ميلة -المركز الجامعي عبد الحفيظ بوالصوف طيلة -المركز الجامعي عبد الحفيظ بوالصوف 1400 140040 150041 150041 150041



www.centre-univ-mila.dz



Submitted for the degree of Doctorate LMD

Bifurcations and Chaos in a

Fractional-Order System

Presented by: Bourafa Safa

Supervised by: Mohammed-Salah Abdelouahab

Faculty : Mathematics

Matricule : M59/2016

Specialty: Mathematics and Applications

N°	Name & Surname	Degree	University	Designation
1	Hamri Nasr-Eddine	Professor	Univ-Center. of Mila	Chairman
2	Mohammed-Salah Abdelouahab	Professor	Univ-Center. of Mila	Supervisor
3	Halim Yacine	M.C.A	Univ-Center. of Mila	Examiner
4	Bellour Azzeddine	M.C.A	E.N.S. of Constantine	Examiner
5	Berkane Abdelhak	Professor	University of Mentouri Brothers	Examiner

University year: 2020/2021

Centre UniversitaireAbdelhafid BOUSSOUF – MILA 図 BP 26 RP Mila 43000 Algérie 營031 450041 昌031 450040 ميلة -المركز الجامعي عبد الحفيظ بوالصوف الجزائر0ميلة RP ص.ب رقم 2.6. 1450040 031 450041 120

Acknowledgements

It would not have been possible to complete this doctoral thesis without the help and support of the kind people around me, to only some of whom it is possible to give particular mention here.

In the first place, I would like to thank my thesis director, Professor. *Mohammed Salah Abdelouahab,* for accepting me as a member of his research group. I say to him, " This thesis would not have been possible without your help and your beautiful patience ".

My thanks and sincere gratitude to my committee members, Professor *Nasr-Eddine Hamri*, Dr. *Halim Yacine*, Dr. *Bellour Azzeddine* and Dr. *Berkane Abdelhak* for their willingness to read and examine my thesis.

In addition, I would also like to thank all members of *Laboratory of Mathematics and their interactions (MELILAB),* our professor, Mr. *Nasr– Eddine Hamri,* My colleagues doctoral students and all my professors at University Center *Abdelhafid Boussouf* – Mila.

My thanks go too to my parents, my family and all my friends.

Contents

1	Frac	ctional	Calculus	9
	1.1	Basic functions		9
		1.1.1	Gamma function	9
		1.1.2	Beta function	11
		1.1.3	Mittag-Liffler function	11
	1.2	Definit	tions	12
		1.2.1	Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives	12
		1.2.2	Caputo's fractional derivative	15
		1.2.3	Grünwald-Letnikov fractional derivative	17
	1.3	Proper	rties of fractional-order operators	19
		1.3.1	Linearity	19
		1.3.2	The Leibniz rule for fractional derivatives	19
		1.3.3	Laplace transforms of fractional derivatives	20
	1.4	Fractio	onal differential equations	22
		1.4.1	Existence and uniqueness results	22
		1.4.2	Analytical solution of linear fractional differential equations	25
		1.4.3	Numerical solution of fractional differential equations $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	28
2	Frac	ctional	Order Systems	32
	2.1	Fractio	onal order dynamical systems	32

		2.1.1	Memory dependency of solutions	32
		2.1.2	Stability of fractional order systems	33
	2.2	Bifurc	ation and Chaos theories	37
		2.2.1	Bifurcation theory	37
		2.2.2	Hopf bifurcation in fractional order systems	41
		2.2.3	Chaos theory	42
		2.2.4	Chaos quantification tools	43
3	Rot	ıth-Hu	rwitz Conditions for Fractional-Order Systems	48
	3.1	The R	outh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional-order systems of order $\alpha \in [0,1)$	50
	3.2	The R	outh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional-order systems of order $\alpha \in [0,2)$	51
		3.2.1	Routh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional-order two dimensional systems	51
		3.2.2	Stability diagram and phase portraits classification for fractional-order pla-	
			nar systems	53
		3.2.3	Routh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional-order three dimensional systems $% \left({{{\bf{n}}_{{\rm{s}}}}_{{\rm{s}}}} \right)$.	54
		3.2.4	Routh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional-order four dimensional systems	58
	3.3	Applic	eations to population dynamics	62
		3.3.1	The fractional-order Holling-Tanner model	63
		3.3.2	The fractional-order super-predator, predator and prey community model .	64
		3.3.3	The fractional-order Heroin epidemic model	66
4	Per	iodic S	olutions of Fractional Order Systems	71
	4.1	Fractio	onal order derivatives of periodic functions and periodic solutions $\ldots \ldots$	71
		4.1.1	Fractional order derivatives of periodic functions	71
		4.1.2	Non existence of periodic solutions	72
		4.1.3	Existence of periodic solutions	73
	4.2	Fractio	onal order derivative with fixed memory length	74
		4.2.1	The Grünwald-Letnikov fractional order derivative with fixed memory length	
			74	

	4.2.2	The Caputo and the Riemann-Liouville fractional order derivatives with	
		fixed memory length	75
4.3	Fracti	onal order derivative with fixed memory length of some functions $\ldots \ldots$	77
	4.3.1	Fractional derivative of some elementary functions	77
	4.3.2	Fractional derivative of a periodic functions	78
4.4	An int	terpolation property	81
4.5	Comparison between some results of classical fractional-order derivatives and frac-		
	tional	order derivatives with fixed memory length	83
4.6	Fracti	onal-order autonomous systems with exact periodic solution	84
	4.6.1	Linear fractional-order autonomous system with exact periodic solution	84
	4.6.2	The predator-prey model with Holling type II response function $\ldots \ldots$	85
	4.6.3	Fractional-order memristor-based circuit	86

List of Figures

1.1	Graphical representation of Euler gamma function.	10
1.2	Graphical representation of Mittag-Liffler function with two parameters α and $\beta.$.	12
2.1	Stability and instability regions for fractional-order systems	35
2.2	Saddle-node bifurcation diagram.	38
2.3	Transcritical bifurcation diagram.	39
2.4	Supercritical Pitchfork Bifurcation Diagram	40
3.1	Stability diagram and phase portraits classification in the (τ, Δ) -plane for planer	
	fractional-order system	55
3.2	a) Phase portrait and b) Time evolutions of system (3.16) for some values of α	
	with the parameter values $r_1 = 1$, $r_2 = 0.2$, $K = 7$, $q = \frac{6}{7}$, $m = 1$ and $\gamma = 0.4$.	65
3.3	a) Phase portrait and b) Time evolutions of system (3.17) for some values of α ,	
	with the parameter values $\omega = 1, \beta = 2, \mu = 1, \gamma = 1, \rho = 4$ and $\delta = 3$	67
3.4	a) Phase portrait and b) Time evolutions of system (3.18) for some values of	
	$\alpha,$ with the parameter values Λ = 4.434486182758694, κ = 0.5, β = 0.001185,	
	$\omega = 0.1654, \ \sigma = 20, \ \mu = 0.0099909, \ \rho = 0.001, \ \delta_1 = 0.001, \ \delta_2 = 0.002, \ \xi = 0.002$	
	0.014999324798155	69

4.1 Fractional derivative of the Sine function for L = 32.1 and some value of α 80

4.2	Time evolution and phase portrait of system (4.19) for $\alpha = 0.9$ (a,b) S-asymptotically
	$T-{\rm periodic}$ solution with $T\approx27.2$ for classical fractional operator. (c,d) Ex-
	act T -periodic solution for the fractional derivative operator with fixed memory
	length. (e) Comparison between the two solutions
4.3	Bifurcation diagram of the state y versus the fractional-order α for $\beta = 3.3.$ 89
4.4	Time evolution and phase portrait of system (4.20) for $\alpha = 0.5$ and $\beta = 3.3$.
	(a,b) S–asymptotically T–periodic solution with $T\approx 19.5$ for classical fractional
	operator. (c,d) Exact T -periodic solution for the fractional derivative operator
	with fixed memory length

General Introduction

"Can the meaning of a derivative of integer order $d^n y/dx^n$ be extended to have meaning when n is a fractional?"

" Can n be any number fractional, irrational or complex?"

These questions are the original questions leading to the name of *Fractional Calculus*.

The history of fractional calculus goes back to the end of the 17th century, when Leibniz invented the notation $d^n y/dx^n$. this notation prompted L'Hospital in 1695 to ask Leibniz "What if n be 1/2?", this question was answered affirmatively by Leibniz in his letter [1]. After this Letter, Leibniz wrote two letters, the first one in 28 December 1695 to Johann Bernoulli and the second one in 28 May 1697 to John Wallis. since that time fractional calculus has drawn the attention of many famous mathematicians, such as L. Euler (1730), J.L. Lagrange (1772), P.S Laplace (1812), S.F. Lacroix (1819), J.B.J. Fourier(1822) [3]. But the Fractional operations were used firstly in (1823) by N.H. Abel in the solution of an integral equation which arises in the formulation of the tautochrone problem [4].

After almost a decade and specifically in 1832, *J. Liouville* published his three large memoirs. The first one is considered as the first major study of fractional calculus and he was successful in applying his definition to problems in potential theory his results were presented in several more publications between 1834 and 1873. Over and after this period many mathematicians made very important work in fractional calculus such as *G.F.B. Riemann*(1847), *A.K. Grunwald*(1867), *A.V. Letnikove*(1868), *H. Laurent*(1884) *M. Caputo*(1967), *K.S. Miller*, *B.Ross*(1993) and many others [1, 3, 4, 2]. The interaction of all the previous works has produced many different types of

fractional-order derivatives, but the three famous and most commonly used in theory of fractional calculus are the Riemann-Liouville (RL), Grünwald-Letnikov and Caputo types.

The idea of fractional calculus is a generalization of integration and differentiation to noninteger order fundamental operator ${}_{a}D_{t}^{\alpha}$, where a and t are the terminals of the operator. The continuous integro-differential operator is defined by

$${}_{a}D_{t}^{\alpha} = \begin{cases} \frac{d^{\alpha}}{dt^{\alpha}}; & \alpha > 0\\ I; & \alpha = 0\\ \int_{a}^{t} (d\tau)^{-\alpha}; \alpha < 0 \end{cases};$$

where $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ is the order of the operation.

As major causes the fractional derivative provide an excellent instrument for the description of memory and hereditary properties of various materials and processes. there is no doubt that fractional calculus has become an exciting new mathematical method to solve many problems in diverse fields of our life. For example: in physics, chemistry, biology, viscoelasticity, engineering, medicine and many others [5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10].

Bifurcations and chaos theories are among the important topics that have attracted more attention of many researchers, they have been greatly influenced in several fields of natural sciences such as in physics [11], biology [12], chemistry [13], economics [14] and the others [15]. With the development of the fractional calculus, the bifurcations and chaos in fractional-order systems also have received much attention in a number of areas through the works of *Hartley et al* [16], *Li et al* [17, 18, 19], *Abdelouahab et al* [71, 21, 22]. The content of this thesis is divided into four chapters:

Chapter 1: Entitled Fractional Calculus.

In this chapter, we begin presenting the basic notations of fractional calculus that will be recurrently used during all this thesis, we give definitions of the special functions and some of their properties such as *Gamma*, *Beta* and *Mittag-Leffler* functions. In the second part we present the three definitions most frequently used for the general fractional differential operators with their most important properties (Linearity, Leibniz rule and Laplace transform). In the last one section we discuss the question of the existence and uniqueness of solutions of fractionalorder differential equations and analytical and numerical resolution of these equation are also considered.

Chapter 2: Fractional Order Systems.

According to the basic rule of "the generalization and extension of meaning to fractional calculus", This chapter is a review of the most important tools and theory of fractional order dynamical systems. The memory dependence property of the solution, the question of stability for the fractional-order linear and nonlinear systems, bifurcation and chaos of the dynamical system have been presented.

Chapter 3: Routh-Hurwitz Conditions for Fractional Order Systems.

In this chapter we extend the *Routh-Hurwitz conditions* to fractional systems of order $\alpha \in [0, 2)$. We use these results to investigate the stability properties of some population models. Numerical simulations which support our theoretical analysis are given [23].

Chapter 4: Entitled Periodic Solutions of Fractional Order Systems.

This chapter focuses on the issues of periodicity property in fractional-order derivative. We display the absence of periodicity property in fractional-order derivatives unless the lower terminal of the derivative is $\pm \infty$ [24, 25, 26], and since this property limits the applicability areas of fractional-order systems for a wide range of periodic real phenomena we have to find practical solutions for this problem. The proposed solution consists of fixing the memory length and varying the lower terminal of the derivative [27, 28].

Chapter 1

Fractional Calculus

In this chapter we commence with some basic theory of the special functions, we give here some informations on the Gamma function, the Beta function and the Mittag-Liffler function. The second section contains the definitions and some properties of fractional integrals and fractional derivatives of different types, and the next section is devoted to proving the existence and uniqueness, the analytical and numerical solutions of fractional differential equations.

1.1 Basic functions

In this section we present some basic tools. Which play the most important role in the theory of fractional calculus, more details may be found in [29, 30].

1.1.1 Gamma function

One of the basic functions of the fractional calculus is the Euler's gamma function (or Euler's integral of the second kind), which generalizes the factorial to non-integer values. The gamma function $\Gamma(z)$ is defined by the following integral:

$$\Gamma(z) = \int_0^\infty e^{-t} t^{z-1} dt; \ \Re(z) > 0.$$
(1.1)



Figure 1.1: Graphical representation of Euler gamma function.

The fundamental property of the gamma function is the recurrence relationship which can be easily proved by integration by parts

$$\Gamma(z) = \int_0^\infty e^{-t} t^{z-1} dt = \frac{1}{z} t^z e^{-t} |_0^\infty + \int_0^\infty e^{-t} \frac{t^z}{z} dt = \frac{1}{z} \int_0^\infty e^{-t} t^z dt = \frac{1}{z} \Gamma(z+1).$$

 So

$$\Gamma(z+1) = z\Gamma(z) \tag{1.2}$$

If z = n, where n is a positive integer, then

$$\Gamma(n+1) = n(n-1)(n-2)...1 = n!.$$

The figure (1.1) represents the graph of the gamma function.

1.1.2 Beta function

The beta function is defined by the Euler integral of the first kind:

$$\beta(x,y) = \int_0^1 t^{x-1} (1-t)^{y-1} dt; \ (\Re(x) > 0; \ \Re(y) > 0).$$
(1.3)

This function is connected with the gamma function by the relation

$$\beta(x,y) = \frac{\Gamma(x)\Gamma(y)}{\Gamma(x+y)}.$$
(1.4)

The relationship between the gamma function and the beta function (1.4) can be also provided by using the Laplace transform (1.30).

1.1.3 Mittag-Liffler function

The Mittag-Liffler function $E_{\alpha}(z)$ plays a very important role in the theory of fractional calculus, its role is similar to that played by the exponential function in the theory of integer-order differential equations.

The Mittag-Liffler function with one parameter was introduced by G.M.Mittag-Liffler and the basic properties of this function were studied by Mittag-Liffler and Wiman. The Mittag-Liffler function is defined by:

$$E_{\alpha}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^k}{\Gamma(\alpha k+1)}; \ \alpha > 0.$$
(1.5)

When $\alpha = 1$, we have

$$E_1(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^k}{\Gamma(k+1)} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^k}{k!} = e^z.$$

The Mittag-Liffler function with two parameters α and β was introduced by Wiman at 1905. This function is defined by:

$$E_{\alpha,\beta}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^k}{\Gamma(\alpha k + \beta)}; \, \alpha > 0, \,\, \beta > 0.$$
(1.6)

When $\beta = 1$, $E_{\alpha,\beta}(z)$ coincides with the Mittag-Leffler function (1.5). The figure (1.2) represents the graph of the Mittag-Liffler function



Figure 1.2: Graphical representation of Mittag-Liffler function with two parameters α and β .

1.2 Definitions

The most famous definitions for fractional-order derivative are the Riemann-Liouville definition, the Caputo definition and the Grünwald-Letnikov definition.

1.2.1 Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives

In this section we give a definition for fractional integral and differential operators ${}^{RL}_{a}D^{-\alpha}_{t}$ and ${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}$, of order $\alpha \notin \mathbb{N}$. we begin with the integral operator.

Integral of arbitrary order

The Riemann-Liouville integral operator ${}^{RL}_{a}D_{t}^{-\alpha}$ is an extension of Cauchy's integral:

$$f^{(-n)}(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n)} \int_{a}^{t} (t-\tau)^{n-1} f(\tau) d\tau, \qquad (1.7)$$

and replace the integer n by a real $\alpha > 0$:

$${}_{a}D_{t}^{-\alpha}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{a}^{t} (t-\tau)^{\alpha-1} f(\tau) d\tau.$$
(1.8)

In (1.7) the integer n must satisfy the condition $n \ge 1$, the corresponding condition for α is weaker, for the existence of the integral (1.8) we must have $\alpha > 0$.

Example 1.1 Let consider the power function $f(t) = (t - a)^{\beta}$, where β is a real number. We have

$${}_aD_t^{-\alpha}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\int_a^t (t-\tau)^{\alpha-1}(\tau-a)^\beta d\tau.$$

By using the variable change $\tau = a + x(t - a)$, and then using the definition of the beta function, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{a}^{t} (t-\tau)^{\alpha-1} (\tau-a)^{\beta} d\tau = \frac{(t-a)^{\alpha+\beta}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{0} (1-x)^{\alpha-1} x^{\beta} dx$$
$$= \frac{(t-a)^{\alpha+\beta}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \beta(\alpha,\beta+1)$$
$$= (t-a)^{\alpha+\beta} \frac{\Gamma(\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha+\beta+1)}.$$
(1.9)

If f(t) = K, then $_aD_t^{-\alpha}K = (t-a)^{\alpha}\frac{K}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}$.

Some properties of the Riemann-Liouville integral

1. Let $f \in C^0([a, b]), \alpha > 0$. Then we have

$$\lim_{\alpha \to 0} ({}_a D_t^{-\alpha} f(t)) = f(t).$$
(1.10)

So we can put $_{a}D_{t}^{0}=I$, the identity operator.

2. Let $f \in C^0([a, b])$, $\alpha > 0$, and $\beta > 0$. Then

$${}_{a}D_{t}^{-\alpha}({}_{a}D_{t}^{-\beta}f(t)) = {}_{a}D_{t}^{-(\alpha+\beta)}f(t) = {}_{a}D_{t}^{-\beta}({}_{a}D_{t}^{-\alpha}f(t)).$$
(1.11)

Derivative of arbitrary order

Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil (\lceil \alpha \rceil = \min \{z \in Z : z \ge \alpha\})$. The Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative of a function f(t) is defined by

$${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)}\frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}}\int^{t}_{a}(t-\tau)^{n-\alpha-1}f(\tau)d\tau,$$

= $\frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}}({}_{a}D^{-(n-\alpha)}_{t}f(t)).$ (1.12)

If $\alpha = n - 1$, then we obtain a conventional integer order derivative of order n - 1:

$${}_{a}D_{t}^{n-1}f(t) = \frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}}({}_{a}D_{t}^{-1}f(t)) = f^{(n-1)}(t).$$

Example 1.2 Let consider the function $f(t) = (t-a)^{\beta}$, for $n-1 \leq \alpha < n$ we have

$${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = \frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}} ({}_{a}D^{-(n-\alpha)}_{t}f(t)).$$
(1.13)

Substituting the integral of order $(n - \alpha)$ of this function (1.9) into the formula (1.13), then

$${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = \frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}}((t-a)^{n-\alpha+\beta}\frac{\Gamma(\beta+1)}{\Gamma(n+\beta-\alpha+1)}).$$
$$= \frac{\Gamma(\beta+1)}{\Gamma(-\alpha+\beta+1)}(t-a)^{\beta-\alpha}.$$
(1.14)

If f(t) = K. So ${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}K = (t-a)^{-\alpha}\frac{K}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}$.

Some properties of the Riemann-Liouville derivative

1.

$${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}({}_{a}D^{-\alpha}_{t}f(t)) = f(t).$$
(1.15)

This property means that the Riemann-Liouville differentiation operator is a left inverse to the Riemann-Liouville integration operator of the same order α .

2.

$${}_{a}D_{t}^{-\alpha}({}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t)) = f(t) - \sum_{k=1}^{n} [{}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha-k}f(t)]_{t=a} \frac{(t-a)^{\alpha-k}}{\Gamma(\alpha-k+1)}; \ \alpha > 0; t > a.$$
(1.16)

3. The following properties are the generalisation of (1.15) and (1.16), for $\alpha \ge \beta \ge 0$:

$${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}({}_{a}D^{-\beta}_{t}f(t)) = {}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha-\beta}_{t}f(t).$$
(1.17)

and

$${}_{a}D_{t}^{-\alpha}({}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\beta}f(t)) = {}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha-\beta}f(t) - \sum_{k=1}^{n} [{}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha-k}f(t)]_{t=a}\frac{(t-a)^{\alpha-k}}{\Gamma(\beta-k+1)}.$$
(1.18)

4. Let $(m - 1 \le \alpha < m)$ and $(n - 1 \le \beta < n)$, we have

$${}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha}({}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\beta}f(t)) = ({}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha+\beta}f(t)) - \sum_{k=1}^{n} [{}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\beta-k}f(t)]_{t=a} \frac{(t-a)^{-\alpha-k}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha-k)}.$$
(1.19)

and

$${}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\beta}({}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t)) = ({}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha+\beta}f(t)) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} [{}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha-k}f(t)]_{t=a} \frac{(t-a)^{-\beta-k}}{\Gamma(1-\beta-k)}.$$
(1.20)

From the properties (1.19) and (1.20), we deduce that the Riemann-Liouville differentiation operators ${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}$ and ${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\beta}_{t}$ commute only if $\alpha = \beta$, or $f^{(k)}(a) = 0$ for all k = 1, 2, ..., r - 1 such that $r = \max(n, m)$.

1.2.2 Caputo's fractional derivative

Since Riemann-Liouville derivatives failed in the description and modeling of some complex phenomena. Caputo derivative is considered as a solution of this problem it is proposed by M. Caputo in 1967.

Definition 1.1 Let $f \in C^n([a,b])$, $\alpha > 0$. The Caputo's fractional derivative of the function f(t) is defined by

$${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{a}^{t} \frac{f^{(n)}(\tau)d\tau}{(t-\tau)^{\alpha-n+1}} = {}_{a}D_{t}^{-(n-\alpha)}(\frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}}f(t))$$
(1.21)

where $n - 1 < \alpha < n$ and t > a.

Lemma 1.1 Let $\alpha \geq 0$ and $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil$. Assume that f is such that both ${}^{C}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}$ and ${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}$ exist. Then

$${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t) = {}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(a)}{\Gamma(-\alpha+k+1)}(t-a)^{-\alpha+k}$$
(1.22)

Example 1.3 Let consider the function $f(t) = (t - a)^{\beta}$, such that $\beta > n$ and $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil$.

We have

$${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t) = {}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1}\frac{f^{(k)}(a)}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)}(t-a)^{k-\alpha},$$

and

$$f^{(k)}(a) = 0; \ \forall k = 0, 1, \dots, n-1,$$

then

$$\begin{aligned} {}^{C}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}(t-a)^{\beta} &= \; {}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}(t-a)^{\beta} \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\beta-\alpha+1)}(t-a)^{\beta-\alpha}. \end{aligned}$$

If $\beta = 0, 1, ..., n - 1$, then

$${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}(t-a)^{\beta} = 0.$$

Lemma 1.2 Let $\alpha > 0$. We have

1. If $f \in C([a, b])$, then

$${}^C_a D^{\alpha}_t ({}_a D^{-\alpha}_t f(t)) = f(t).$$

2. If $f \in C^n([a, b])$, then

$${}_{a}D_{t}^{-\alpha}({}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t)) = f(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(a)}{k!}(t-a)^{k}.$$

In particular, if $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ and $f \in C([a, b])$ then

$${}_aD_t^{-\alpha}({}^C_aD_t^{\alpha}f(t)) = f(t) - f(a).$$

Some properties of the Caputo's derivative

Let $n-1 \leq \alpha < n$ and $f \in C^{n+1}([a, b])$

1. The Caputo derivative of a constant function is 0, but its Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative is not equal to 0.

2. For all $t \in [a, b]$ we have

$$\lim_{\alpha \to n} {C \choose a} D_t^{\alpha} f(t) = f^{(n)}(t),$$

and

$$\lim_{\alpha \to n-1} {\binom{C}{a} D_t^{\alpha} f(t)} = f^{(n-1)}(t) - f^{(n-1)}(a).$$

3. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$, we have

$${}^C_a D^{\alpha}_t ({}^C_a D^m_t f(t)) = {}^C_a D^{\alpha+m}_t f(t),$$

but

$${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}({}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{m}f(t)) = {}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{m}({}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t)) = {}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha+m}f(t).$$

The interchange of the differentiation operators is allowed under the following conditions

$$f^{(k)}(a) = 0$$
 for $k = n, n + 1, \dots, m$

1.2.3 Grünwald-Letnikov fractional derivative

Grünwald-Letnikov Derivative introduced by Anton Karl Grünwald in 1867, and then by Aleksey vasilievich Letnikov in 1868. As well known the classical derivatives can be expressed as differential quotients, i.e. as limits of difference quotients. For example, the n-th order derivative of a function $f(t) \in C^n([a, b])$ is defined by

$$f^{(n)}(t) = \frac{d^n f}{dt^n} = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h^n} \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^k \binom{n}{k} f(t-kh),$$
(1.23)

where

$$\binom{n}{k} = \frac{n(n-1)(n-2)...(n-k+1)}{k!},$$

is the usual notation for the binomial coefficients.

The equality (1.23) may be used to define a fractional derivative of Grünwald-Letnikov by direct replacing n by $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$

$${}^{GL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h^{\alpha}} \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} {\alpha \choose k} f(t-kh),$$
$$nh = t-a$$

Since $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$, so the binomial coefficient is given by

$$\binom{\alpha}{k} = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{k!\Gamma(\alpha-k+1)}.$$

Hence,

$${}_{a}^{GL}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h^{\alpha}} \sum_{k=0}^{\frac{t-a}{h}} (-1)^{k} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{k!\Gamma(\alpha-k+1)} f(t-kh).$$
(1.24)
$$nh = t - a$$

Integrals of arbitrary order

Let us consider the case of $\alpha < 0$. For convenience let us replace α by $-\alpha$ in the expression (1.24). Then (1.24) takes the form

$${}^{GL}_{a}D^{-\alpha}_{t}f(t) = \lim_{\substack{h \to 0 \\ nh = t - a}} h^{\alpha} \sum_{k=0}^{\frac{t-a}{h}} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+k)}{k!\Gamma(\alpha)} f(t-kh).$$
(1.25)

The expression (1.25) is called the Grünwald-Letnikov integral of order α of the function f(t).

Link to the Riemann-Liouville and the Caputo derivatives

Under the assumption that the derivatives $f^{(k)}(t)$, (k = 1, 2, ..., n) are continuous in the closed interval [a, T] and n is an integer number such that $\alpha < n$, then the Grünwald-Letnikov fractional derivative (1.24) can be written as follows:

$${}_{a}^{GL}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(a)(t-a)^{-\alpha+k}}{\Gamma(-\alpha+k+1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(-\alpha+n)} \int_{a}^{t} (t-\tau)^{n-\alpha-1} f^{(n)}(\tau) d\tau.$$
(1.26)

The right hand side of the formula (1.26) can be written as

$$\frac{d^n}{dt^n} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(a)(t-a)^{-\alpha+n+k}}{\Gamma(-\alpha+n+k+1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(-\alpha+2n)} \int_a^t (t-\tau)^{2n-\alpha-1} f^{(n)}(\tau) d\tau\right),$$
(1.27)

after n integrations by parts it takes the form of the Riemann-Liouville derivative

$$\frac{d^n}{dt^n} \left(\frac{1}{\Gamma(-\alpha+n)} \int_a^t (t-\tau)^{n-\alpha-1} f(\tau) d\tau\right) = \frac{d^n}{dt^n} \left({}_a D_t^{-(n-\alpha)} f(t)\right) = {}_a^{RL} D_t^{\alpha} f(t).$$
(1.28)

Finally, under the above assumptions and according to the relationship (1.22) we get:

$${}^{GL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = {}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = {}^{C}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(a)}{\Gamma(-\alpha+k+1)}(t-a)^{-\alpha+k}$$
(1.29)

1.3 Properties of fractional-order operators

1.3.1 Linearity

Similarly to integer order differentiation, fractional differentiation is a linear operation:

$$D^{\alpha}(\lambda f(t) + \beta g(t)) = \lambda D^{\alpha} f(t) + \beta D^{\alpha} g(t), \text{ for } \alpha > 0, \ \lambda, \beta \in \mathbb{R},$$

where D^{α} denotes any mutation of the fractional differentiation considered in this work.

1.3.2 The Leibniz rule for fractional derivatives

The Leibniz rule for Fractional differentiation can be formulated as follow. If f(t) is continuous in [a, t] and $\varphi(t)$ has (n + 1) continuous derivatives in [a, t], then the fractional derivative of the product $\varphi(t)f(t)$ is given by

$${}_aD_t^{\alpha}(\varphi(t)f(t)) = \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{\alpha}{k} \varphi^{(k)}(t)_a D_t^{\alpha-k} f(t) - R_n^{\alpha}(t);$$

where $n \ge \alpha + 1$ and

$$R_{n}^{\alpha}(t) = \frac{1}{n!\Gamma(-\alpha)} \int_{a}^{t} (t-\tau)^{-\alpha-1} f(\tau) d\tau \int_{\tau}^{t} \varphi^{(n+1)}(\xi) (\tau-\xi)^{n} d\xi,$$

with

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} R_n^{\alpha}(t) = 0.$$

If f and φ along with all its derivatives are continuous in [a, t] then the Liebniz rule for fractional differentiation takes the form:

$${}_{a}D_{t}^{\alpha}(\varphi(t)f(t)) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \binom{\alpha}{k} \varphi^{(k)}(t)_{a}D_{t}^{\alpha-k}f(t).$$

1.3.3 Laplace transforms of fractional derivatives

The Laplace transform F(s) of a function f(t) of a real variable $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$ is defined by

$$F(s) = L\{f(t), s\} = \int_0^\infty e^{-st} f(t) dt; \ s \in \mathbb{C}$$
(1.30)

The original f(t) can be restored from the Laplace transform F(s) with the help of the inverse Laplace transform

$$f(t) = L^{-1}(F(s)) = \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} e^{st} F(s) ds, \ c = \Re(s) > c_0,$$
(1.31)

where c_0 is called the abscissa of convergence of the Laplace integral (1.30).

For the existence of the integral (1.30) the function f(t) must be of exponential order α , which means that there exist positive constants M and T such that

$$e^{-\alpha t} \mid f(t) \mid \leq M$$
 for all $t > T$

The Laplace transform of the convolution

$$f(t) * g(t) = \int_0^t f(t-\tau)g(\tau)d\tau,$$

$$= \int_0^t f(\tau)g(t-\tau)d\tau,$$
(1.32)

of two functions f(t) and g(t), which are equal to zero for all t < 0, is given by

$$L\{f(t) * g(t), s\} = F(s)G(s),$$
(1.33)

under the assumption that both F(s) and G(s) exist.

The Laplace transform of the integer-order derivative $f^{(n)}(t)$ is given by:

$$L\{f^{(n)}(t), s\} = s^{n}F(s) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} s^{k}f^{(n-k-1)}(0)$$

$$= s^{n}F(s) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} s^{n-k-1}f^{(k)}(0).$$
(1.34)

In the following section on the Laplace transforms of fractional derivatives we consider the lower terminal a = 0.

Laplace transform of the Riemann-Liouville fractional integral

The Riemann-Liouville fractional integral (1.8) can be written as a convolution of the functions $g(t) = t^{\alpha-1}$ and f(t)

$${}_{0}D_{t}^{-\alpha}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-\tau)^{\alpha-1} f(\tau) d\tau = t^{\alpha-1} * f(t).$$
(1.35)

The Laplace transform of the power function $t^{\alpha-1}$ is given by

$$G(s) = L\{t^{\alpha-1}, s\} = \Gamma(\alpha)s^{-\alpha}.$$
(1.36)

Therefore, using the formula (1.33) we obtain the Laplace transform of the Riemann-Liouville fractional integral:

$$L\{{}_{0}D_{t}^{-\alpha}f(t),s\} = s^{-\alpha}F(s).$$
(1.37)

Laplace transform of the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative

In order to evaluate the Laplace transform of the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative, we write (1.12) in the form

$${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = g^{(n)}(t), \qquad (1.38)$$

where

$$g(t) = {}_{0}^{RL} D_{t}^{-(n-\alpha)} f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-\tau)^{n-\alpha-1} f(\tau) d\tau; \ n-1 \le \alpha < n.$$
(1.39)

The use of the formula (1.34) give

$$L\{{}^{RL}_{0}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t),s\} = s^{n}G(s) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} s^{k}g^{(n-k-1)}(0), \qquad (1.40)$$

such that

$$G(s) = s^{-(n-p)} F(s).$$
(1.41)

From the definition of the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative it follows that

$$g^{(n-k-1)}(t) = \frac{d^{n-k-1}}{dt^{n-k-1}} {}_{0}D_{t}^{-(n-\alpha)}f(t) = {}_{0}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha-k-1}f(t)$$
(1.42)

Substituting (1.41) and (1.42) into (1.40) we obtain the final expression for the Laplace transform of the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative

$$L\{{}^{RL}_{0}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t),s\} = s^{\alpha}F(s) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} s^{k}[{}^{RL}_{0}D^{\alpha-k-1}_{t}f(t)]_{t=0}; \ n-1 \le \alpha < n$$
(1.43)

Laplace transform of the Caputo's fractional derivative

To establish the Laplace transform of the Caputo derivative let us write the Caputo derivative (1.21) in the form:

$${}^{C}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) =_{a} D^{-(n-\alpha)}_{t}g(t), \ g(t) = f^{(n)}(t).$$
(1.44)
$$n-1 < \alpha \le n.$$

Using the formula (1.37) and (1.34) we obtain the Laplace transform of the Caputo fractional derivative:

$$L\{{}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t),s\} = s^{\alpha}F(s) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1}s^{\alpha-k-1}f^{(k)}(0); \ n-1 < \alpha \le n.$$
(1.45)

Laplace transform of the Grünwald-Letnikov fractional derivative

First case $0 \le \alpha < 1$: The Grünwald-Letnikov fractional derivative (1.26) can be written as follows

$${}_{0}^{GL}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t) = \frac{f(0)t^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}\int_{0}^{t} (t-\tau)^{-\alpha}f'(\tau)d\tau.$$
(1.46)

Using the Laplace transforms (1.36), (1.33) and (1.34) we obtain the Laplace transform of the Grünwald-Letnikov fractional derivative of order $0 \le \alpha < 1$

$$L\{{}_{0}^{GL}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t),s\} = s^{\alpha}F(s).$$
(1.47)

If $\alpha > 1$: In this case the Laplace transform of the Grünwald-Letnikov fractional derivative does not exist in the classical sense, because in such a case we have non integrable function in the sum in the formula (1.26).

1.4 Fractional differential equations

1.4.1 Existence and uniqueness results

In this part we will be focused on equations with Riemann-Liouville differential operators and Caputo derivatives. We assume in this result and in the ensuing developments that the fractional derivatives are developed at the point 0.

Existence and uniqueness results for Riemann–Liouville fractional differential equations

The initial value problem (Cauchy problem) with Riemann–Liouville differential is given by:

$${}^{RL}D^{\alpha}y(t) = f(t, y(t)),$$

$${}^{RL}D^{\alpha-k}y(0) = b_k, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, n-1,$$

$$\lim_{z \to 0_+} D^{-(n-\alpha)}y(z) = b_n.$$
(1.48)

Such that $\alpha > 0$, $\alpha \notin \mathbb{N}$ and $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil$.

Theorem 1.1 Let $\alpha > 0$, $\alpha \notin \mathbb{N}$ and $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil$. Moreover let K > 0, $h^* > 0$ and $b_1, \ldots, b_n \in \mathbb{R}$. Define

$$G := \{(t,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 0 \le t \le h^*, y \in \mathbb{R} \text{ for } t = 0 \text{ and } |t^{n-\alpha}y - \sum_{k=1}^n b_k t^{n-k} / \Gamma(\alpha - k + 1)| < K \text{ else,} \}$$

and assume that the function $f : G \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous and bounded in G and that it fulfils a Lipschitz condition with respect to the second variable, i.e. there exist a constant L > 0 such that, for all (t, y_1) and $(t, y_2) \in G$, we have

$$|f(t, y_1) - f(t, y_2)| < L|y_1 - y_2|.$$

Then the problem (1.48) has a uniquely defined continuous solution $y \in C(0,h]$ where

$$h := \min\{h^*, \tilde{h}, (\frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)K}{M})^{\frac{1}{n}}\}$$

with $M := \sup_{(t,z)\in G} |f(t,z)|$ and \tilde{h} begin an arbitrary positive number satisfying the constraint

$$\tilde{h} < \frac{\Gamma(2\alpha - n + 1)}{(\Gamma(\alpha - n + 1)L)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}}$$

This result is very similar to the known classical results for first-order equations.

Specifically, we shall first transform the initial value problem (1.48) into an equivalent Volterra integral equation (Lemma 1.3), and then we prove the existence and uniquenss of the solution of this integral equation by a Picard type iteration process (i,e, by using a variant of Banach's fixed point theorem in a suitably chosen complete metric space), (Lemma 1.4). Theorem 1.1 is thus an immediate consequence of these two lemmas.

Lemma 1.3 Assume the hypotheses of Theorem 1.1 and let h > 0. The function $y \in C(0, h]$ is a solution of the problem (1.48), if and only if it is a solution of the Volterra integral equation

$$y(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{b_k t^{\alpha-k}}{\Gamma(\alpha-k+1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-\tau)^{\alpha-1} f(\tau, y(\tau)) d\tau.$$
(1.49)

Lemma 1.4 Under the assumptions of Theorem 1.1. The Volterra equation (1.49) possesses a uniquely determined solution $y \in C(0, h]$.

For a detailed proof of Theorem 1.1, Lemma 1.3 and Lemma 1.4 one can refer to [31, 32].

Existence and uniqueness results for Caputo fractional differential equations

For the fractional differential equation of Caputo type we can obtain a similar results of Riemann-Liouville differential equation.

Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^*$ and $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil$, we consider the Cauchy problem with Caputo's fractional derivatives :

$$\begin{cases} {}^{C}D^{\alpha}y(t) = f(t, y(t)), \\ D^{k}y(0) = y_{0}^{(k)}; \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, n-1. \end{cases}$$
(1.50)

Theorem 1.2 Let $\alpha > 0$, $\alpha \notin \mathbb{N}$ and $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil$. Moreover let $y_0^{(0)}, \ldots, y_0^{(n-1)} \in \mathbb{R}$, K > 0 and $h^* > 0$. Define

$$G := [0, h^*] \times [y_0^{(0)} - K, y_0^{(0)} + K],$$

and let the function $f: G \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ be continuous. Then, there exists some h > 0 and a function $y \in C[0, h]$ solving the problem (1.50). For the case $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ the parameter h is given by

$$h := \min\{h^*, (K\Gamma(\alpha+1)/M)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}\}, \text{ with } M := \sup_{(t,z)\in G} |f(t,z)|.$$

If furthermore f fulfils a Lipschitz condition with respect to the second variable, i.e.

$$|f(t, y_1) - f(t, y_2)| \le L|y_1 - y_2|.$$

With some constant L > 0 independent of t, y_1 and y_2 , the function $y \in C[0, h]$ is unique.

This result is also similar to their counterparts in the classical case of first order equations, this means that we will not prove this theorem directly, but rather show that (1.50) can be formulated as Volterra integral equation (Lemma 1.5 and Lemma 1.6).

Lemma 1.5 Under the assumptions of Theorem 1.2. The function $y \in C(0, h]$ is a solution of the problem (1.48), if and only if it is a solution of the Volterra integral equation

$$y(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{t^k}{k!} y_0^{(k)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^t (t-\tau)^{\alpha-1} f(\tau, y(\tau)) d\tau.$$
(1.51)

Lemma 1.6 Under the assumptions of Theorem 1.2. The Volterra equation (1.51) possesses a uniquely determined solution $y \in C(0, h]$.

For the proofs of Theorem 1.2, Lemma 1.5 and Lemma 1.6 one can refer to [32].

1.4.2 Analytical solution of linear fractional differential equations

One dimensional case

Theorem 1.3 [31]

Let $\alpha > 0$, $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. The solution of the initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} {}^{C}D^{\alpha}y(t) = \lambda y(t) + q(t), \\ y^{(k)}(0) = y_{0}^{(k)}; \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, n-1. \end{cases}$$
(1.52)

where $q \in C[0, h]$ is a given function, can be expressed in the form

$$y(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} y_0^{(k)} u_k(t) + \tilde{y}(t)$$
(1.53)

with

$$\tilde{y}(t) = \begin{cases} D^{-\alpha}q(t) & \text{if } \lambda = 0\\ \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_0^t q(t-\tau) u_0'(\tau) d\tau & \text{if } \lambda \neq 0 \end{cases};$$

$$k = 0, 1, \quad n-1, \text{ and } e_{\tau}(t) := E_{\tau}(\lambda t^{\alpha})$$

where $u_k(t) := D^{-k}(e_{\alpha}(t)), \ k = 0, 1, ..., n-1 \ and \ e_{\alpha}(t) := E_{\alpha}(\lambda t^{\alpha}).$

Example 1.4 Let consider the problem

$$\begin{cases} D^{\alpha}y(t) = -y(t) + 1, \\ y(0) = 0; \quad y'(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.54)

we have: $\lambda = -1$ and q(t) = 1. So;

$$y(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{1} y_0^{(k)} u_k(t) + \tilde{y}(t)$$

such that

$$\tilde{y}(t) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_0^t q(t-\tau) u'_0(\tau) d\tau,$$
$$= -E_\alpha(-\tau^\alpha) + 1,$$

and

$$\sum_{k=0}^{1} y_0^{(k)} u_k(t) = y(0) E_\alpha(-t^\alpha) + y'(0) \int_0^t E_\alpha(-\tau^\alpha) d\tau = 0.$$

So, the general solution of (1.54) is

$$y(t) = 1 - E_{\alpha}(-t^{\alpha}).$$

Multidimensional case

Let us consider the fractional differential equation

$$D^{\alpha}y(t) = Ay(t) + q(t),$$
(1.55)

with $0 < \alpha < 1$, $A \in M_n(\mathbb{R})$, a given function $q : [0,h] \to \mathbb{R}^n$ and an unknown solution $y : [0,h] \to \mathbb{R}^n$.

As usual we start with the homogeneous problem corresponding to (1.55)

$$D^{\alpha}y(t) = Ay(t), \tag{1.56}$$

We know that in the classical situation $\alpha = 1$, the general solution of (1.56) is $y(t) = u \exp(At)$ with a suitable vector u. Since we found that the Mittag-Liffler function $E_{\alpha}(t^{\alpha})$ takes the role of $\exp(t)$ in the one-dimensional case, it is natural to seek a solution that is a linear combination of expressions of the form

$$y(t) = uE_{\alpha}(\lambda t^{\alpha}), \tag{1.57}$$

with suitable vectors $u \in \mathbb{C}^n$ and scalars $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ that need to be determined. Inserting (1.57) into the homogeneous equation (1.56) we obtain

$$u\lambda E_{\alpha}(\lambda t^{\alpha}) = Au E_{\alpha}(\lambda t^{\alpha}). \tag{1.58}$$

Since $E_{\alpha}(\lambda t^{\alpha}) \neq 0$, this implies

 $\lambda u = Au,$

it means that λ must be an eigenvalue of the matrix A, and u must be a corresponding eigenvector. Now, if all k-fold eigenvalues of A have k eigenvectors, then the set of all these eigenvectors is linearly independent and it forms a basis of \mathbb{C}^n . Hence, the following result holds

Theorem 1.4 [33] Let $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots, \lambda_n$ be the eigenvalues of A and u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n be the corresponding eigenvectors. Then, the general solution of (1.56) has the form

$$y(t) = \sum_{l=1}^{n} c_l u_l E_{\alpha}(\lambda_l t^{\alpha}), \qquad (1.59)$$

with certain constants $c_l \in \mathbb{C}$. The unique solution of this differential equation subject to the initial condition $y(0) = y_0$ is characterized by the linear system

$$y_0 = (u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n)(c_1, c_2, \dots, c_n)^T.$$

If the matrix A has a repeated eigenvalue λ of multiplicity k, then we have two possibilities: either there are k linearly independent eigenvectors corresponding to the eigenvalue λ , in this case $y_1 = u_l E_{\alpha}(\lambda t^{\alpha}), \ldots, y_k = u_k E_{\alpha}(\lambda t^{\alpha})$ are k linearly independent solutions of the system (1.56). However, if there are m linearly independent eigenvectors corresponding to an eigenvalue λ of multiplicity k, where m < k then the following

$$\begin{cases} y_1 = u_1 E_{\alpha}(\lambda t^{\alpha}), \\ y_2 = u_1 t^{\alpha} E_{\alpha}^{(1)}(\lambda t^{\alpha}) + u_2 E_{\alpha}(\lambda t^{\alpha}), \\ \vdots \\ y_{k-m} = u_1 t^{\alpha(k-m-1)} E_{\alpha}^{(k-m-1)}(\lambda t^{\alpha}) + u_2 t^{\alpha(k-m-2)} E_{\alpha}^{(k-m-2)}(\lambda t^{\alpha}) + \dots + u_{k-m} E_{\alpha}(\lambda t^{\alpha}), \end{cases}$$

are k - m linearly independent solutions of the system (1.56), where $E_{\alpha}^{(1)}(t) = \frac{d}{dt}E_{\alpha}(t)$.

Remark 1.1 Let $[y_1(t), y_2(t), \ldots, y_n(t)]^T$ be the solution of the initial value problem consisting of the fractional order linear system (1.56) and the initial condition $y(0) = y_0$. Then the initial value problem for the nonhomogeneous fractional order system (1.55) and the initial condition $y(0) = y_0$ has the solution $[Y_1(t), Y_2(t), \ldots, Y_n(t)]^T$, such that [33]

$$Y_i(t) = y_i(t) + \int_0^t y_i(\tau - t)q_i(\tau)d\tau.$$
 (1.60)

1.4.3 Numerical solution of fractional differential equations

For most fractional differential equations we cannot provide methods to compute the exact solutions analytically. Therefore it is necessary to revert to numerical methods. There are lot of methods used to solve fractional differential equations. An efficient method for solving fractional differential equations in term of Caputo type fractional derivative, is the predictorcorrector scheme or more precisely, PECE (Predict, Evaluate, Correct, Evaluate) [31, 34], which represents a generalization of Adams-Bashforth-Moulton algorithm.

Classical formulation

We first recall the idea behind the classical Adams-Bashforth-Moulton algorithm for the firstorder equations:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{y}(t) = f(t, y(t)), \\ y(0) = y_0. \end{cases}$$
(1.61)

We assume the function f to be such that a unique solution exists on some interval [0, T], and we are working on a uniform grid $t_j = jh : j = 0, 1, ..., n$ with some integer The basic idea is, assume that we have already calculated approximations $y_j \approx y(t_j)(j = 1, 2, ..., k)$, that we try to obtain the approximation y_{k+1} by means of the equation

$$y(t_{k+1}) = y(t_k) + \int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} f(\tau, y(\tau)) f\tau.$$
 (1.62)

This equation follows upon integration of (1.61) on the interval $[t_k, t_{k+1}]$. The integral on the right-hand side of (1.62) is then replaced by two point trapezoidal quadrature formula

$$\int_{a}^{b} g(t)dt \approx \frac{b-a}{2}(g(a) + g(b)),$$
(1.63)

thus giving an equation for the unknown approximation y_{k+1} ; it begin

$$y_{k+1} = y_k + \frac{t_{k+1} - t_k}{2} (f(t_k, y(t_k)) + f(t_{k+1}, y(t_{k+1}))),$$
(1.64)

where again we have to replace $y(t_k)$ and $y(t_{k+1})$ by their approximations y_k and y_{k+1} respectively. This yield the equation for the implicit one-step Adams-Moulton method, which is

$$y_{k+1} = y_k + \frac{t_{k+1} - t_k}{2} (f(t_k, y_k) + f(t_{k+1}, y_{k+1})).$$
(1.65)

The problem with this equation is that the unknown quantity y_{k+1} appears on both sides, and due to the nonlinear nature of the function f, we cannot solve it for y_{k+1} directly in general. Therefore, we may use (1.65) in an iterative process, inserting a preliminary approximation for y_{k+1} in the right-hand side in order to determine a better approximation that we can then use. The preliminary approximation y_{k+1}^P , the so-called predictor, is obtained in a very similar way, only replacing the trapezoidal quadrature formula by the rectangle rule

$$\int_{a}^{b} g(t)dt \approx (b-a)g(a), \qquad (1.66)$$

giving the explicit (one-step Adams-Bashforth) method

$$y_{k+1}^P = y_k + hf(t_k, y_k).$$
(1.67)

It is well known that the process defined by(1.67) and

$$y_{k+1}^{P} = y_{k} + \frac{h}{2}(f(t_{k}, y_{k}) + f(t_{k+1}, y_{k+1}^{P})), \qquad (1.68)$$

known as the one-step Adams-Bashforth-Moulton technique, it is said to be the PECE (Predict, Evaluate, Correct, Evaluate) type.

Fractional formulation

We now try to carry over the essential ideas to the fractional-order problem with unavoidable modifications, for that we need to derive an equation similar to (1.62). Fortunately, such an equation is available, namely (1.51). This equation looks somewhat different from (1.62), because the range of integration now starts at 0 instead of t_k . This is a consequence of the non-local structure of the fractional-order differential operators. This however does not cause major problems in our attempts to generalize the Adams method. What we do is simply use the product trapezoibal quadrature formula to replace the integral, ie. we use the nodes (j=0,1,..., k+1) and interpret function $(t_{k+1} - .)^{\alpha-1}$ as a weight function for the integral. In other words, we apply the approximation

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} (t_{k+1} - \tau)^{\alpha - 1} g(\tau) d\tau \approx \int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} (t_{k+1} - \tau)^{\alpha - 1} \tilde{g}_{k+1}(\tau) d\tau, \qquad (1.69)$$

where \tilde{g}_{k+1} is the piecewise linear interpolate for g with nodes and knots chosen at the t_j , $j = 0, 1, \ldots, k+1$. We can write the integral on the right-hand side of (1.69) as

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} (t_{k+1} - \tau)^{\alpha - 1} \tilde{g}_{k+1}(\tau) d\tau = \sum_{j=0}^{k+1} a_{j,k+1} g(t_j), \qquad (1.70)$$

where

$$a_{j,k+1} = \int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} (t_{k+1} - \tau)^{\alpha - 1} \phi_{j,k+1}(\tau) d\tau, \qquad (1.71)$$

and

$$\phi_{j,k+1}(\tau) = \begin{cases} \frac{\tau - t_{j-1}}{t_j - t_{j-1}} & \text{if } t_{j-1} < \tau \le t_j \\ \frac{t_{j+1} - \tau}{t_{j+1} - t_j} & \text{if } t_j < \tau < t_{j+1} \\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$
(1.72)

An easy explicit calculation yields that for an arbitrary choice of the t_j , (1.71) and (1.72) produce

$$a_{0,k+1} = \frac{(t_{k+1} - t_1)^{\alpha+1} + t_{k+1}^{\alpha} [\alpha t_1 + t_1 - t_{k+1}]}{\alpha(\alpha + 1)t_1},$$
(1.73)

 $\text{if } 1 \leq j \leq k \\$

$$a_{j,k+1} = \frac{(t_{k+1} - t_{j-1})^{\alpha+1} + (t_{k+1} - t_j)^{\alpha} [\alpha(t_{j-1} + t_j) + t_{j-1} - t_{k+1}]}{\alpha(\alpha + 1)(t_j - t_{j-1})} + \frac{(t_{k+1} - t_{j+1})^{\alpha+1} - (t_{k+1} - t_j)^{\alpha} [\alpha(t_j + t_{j+1}) - t_{j+1} + t_{k+1}]}{\alpha(\alpha + 1)(t_{j+1} - t_j)},$$

and

$$a_{k+1,k+1} = \frac{(t_{k+1} - t_k)^{\alpha}}{\alpha(\alpha + 1)}.$$
(1.74)

In the case of equispaced nodes $(t_j = jh)$, these relations reduce to

$$a_{j,k+1}(\tau) = \begin{cases} \frac{h^{\alpha}}{\alpha(\alpha+1)} (k^{\alpha+1} - (k-\alpha)(k+1)^{\alpha}) & \text{if } j = 0\\ \frac{h^{\alpha}}{\alpha(\alpha+1)} (k-j+2)^{\alpha+1} + (k-j)^{\alpha+1} - 2(k-j+1)^{\alpha+1}) & \text{if } 1 \le j \le k \\ \frac{h^{\alpha}}{\alpha(\alpha+1)} & \text{if } j = k+1 \end{cases}$$
(1.75)

This then gives us corrector formula (the fractional variant of the one-step Adams-Moulton mathod), which is

$$y_{k+1} = \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{t_{k+1}^j}{j!} y_0^{(j)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left(\sum_{j=0}^k a_{j,k+1} f(t_j, y_j) + a_{k+1,k+1} f(t_{k+1}, y_{k+1}^p)\right).$$
(1.76)

The remaining problem is the determination of the predictor formula that we require to calculate the value y_{k+1}^p . That idea we use to generalize the one-step Adams-Bashforth method is the same as the one described above for the Adams-Moulton technique: We replace the integral on the right-hand side of (1.51) by the product rectangle rule

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} (t_{k+1} - \tau)^{\alpha - 1} g(\tau) d\tau \approx \sum_{j=0}^{k} b_{j,k+1} g(t_j), \qquad (1.77)$$

where now

$$b_{j,k+1} = \int_{t_j}^{t_{j+1}} (t_{k+1} - \tau)^{\alpha - 1} d\tau = \frac{(t_{k+1} - t_j)^{\alpha} - (t_{k+1} - t_{j+1})^{\alpha}}{\alpha}.$$
 (1.78)

In the equispaced case, we have the simpler expression

$$b_{j,k+1} = \frac{h^{\alpha}}{\alpha} ((k+1-j)^{\alpha} - (k-j)^{\alpha}).$$
(1.79)

Thus, the predictor y_{k+1}^p is determined by the fractional Adams-Bashforth method

$$y_{k+1}^p = \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{t_{k+1}^j}{j!} y_0^{(j)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{j=0}^k b_{j,k+1} f(t_j, y_j).$$
(1.80)

In the basic algorithm, the fractional Adams-Bashforth-Moulton (ABM) method, is therefore completely described now by (1.80) and (1.76) with the weights $a_{j,k+1}$ and $b_{j,k+1}$ being defined according to (1.75) and (1.78), respectively.

Chapter 2

Fractional Order Systems

This part is a review of the most important subjects in dynamical systems. The memory dependence property of the solution in fractional order systems and the question of stability for the fractional-order linear and nonlinear systems have been discussed in the first section. In the second section we present some important concepts like bifurcation and chaos of the dynamical system.

2.1 Fractional order dynamical systems

2.1.1 Memory dependency of solutions

One of the basic differences between the integer-order systems and the fractional-order systems is the dependence of the solution at time t on its memory from the starting time to t, this result is stated in the following theorem [26].

Theorem 2.1 Let f(t) satisfy the Lipschitz condition, then the solutions of the following fractionalorder system are memory dependent.

$$\begin{cases} {}^{c}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}x = f(x) \\ x(a) = x_{a} \end{cases};$$
(2.1)

It means that solution of (2.1) which is denoted by $\phi(t, x_a)$, and the solution of

$$\begin{cases} {}^{c}_{b}D^{\alpha}_{t}y = f(y)\\ y(b) = y_{b} \triangleq \phi(b, x_{a}) \end{cases}; b > a$$

$$(2.2)$$

which is denoted by $\psi(t, y_b)$, do not coincide for $t \ge b$.

According to the theorem (2.1), the solution of fractional-order system does not satisfy the semigroup property.

2.1.2 Stability of fractional order systems

In this section we study the question of stability of solutions of fractional differential equations. The stability theory of fractional differential equations is of main interest in physical systems. Moreover, some stability results have been found [33, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40]. First we consider the stability results of linear fractional differential equations, then we give these results for a general fractional differential equations.

Let us consider the following differential equation:

$$D^{\alpha}y(t) = f(t, y(t)),$$
 (2.3)

where $\alpha \in (0, 1), y(t) \in \mathbb{R}^N$ with $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and f is defined on a suitable subset of \mathbb{R}^{N+1} . For existing of the solutions y of (2.3) on $[0, \infty)$, we consider the following assumptions:

- i) The first of these assumptions is that f is defined on a set $G := [0, \infty) \times w \in \mathbb{R}^N : ||w|| < W$ with some $0 < W \leq \infty$. The norm in this definition of G may be an arbitrary norm on \mathbb{R}^N .
- ii) The second assumption is that f is continuous on its domain of definition and that it satisfies a Lipschitz condition there. This asserts that the initial value problem consisting of (2.3) and the initial condition y(0) = y₀ has a unique solution on the interval [0, b) with some b ≤ ∞ if ||y₀|| ≤ W.
- iii) And last one assumption is that

$$f(t,0) = 0$$
 for all $t \ge 0$
This condition implies that the function y(t) = 0 is a solution of (2.3).

- **Definition 2.1 a)** The zero solution y(t) = 0 of the differential equation (2.3), is called stable if, for any $\epsilon > 0$ there exists some $\delta > 0$ such that the solution of the initial value problem consisting of the differential equation (2.3) and the initial condition $y(0) = y_0$ satisfies $||y(t)|| < \epsilon$ for all $t \ge 0$ whenever $||y_0|| < \delta$.
- **b)** The solution y(t) = 0 of the differential equation (2.3), is called asymptotically stable if it is stable and there exists some $\gamma > 0$ such that $||y(t)|| \to 0$ as $t \to +\infty$ whenever $||y_0|| < \gamma$.

Stability of fractional order linear systems

A necessary and sufficient condition on asymptotic stability of linear fractional differential system with order $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ was first given in 1996 Matignon [36]. Then, some literatures on the stability of linear fractional differential systems with order $0 < \alpha < 1$ have been appeared [31, 37, 38, 39, 40]. In our work we begin the analysis of stability by a very simple special case, the homogeneous linear differential equation with constant coefficients.

Theorem 2.2 [41]

Autonomous system:

$$D^{\alpha}x(t) = Ax(t) \text{ with } x(t_0) = x_0,$$
 (2.4)

is asymptotically stable if and only if

$$|\arg(spec(A))| > \frac{\alpha \pi}{2},\tag{2.5}$$

where $\alpha \in [0, 1)$, $\arg(.)$ is the principal argument of a given complex number and spec(A) is the spectrum (set of all eigenvalues) of A.

But not all the fractional differential systems have fractional orders in (0, 1). There exist fractional models which have fractional orders lying in (1, 2), for example, super-diffusion [42]. Hence, the stability of linear fractional differential systems with order $1 < \alpha < 2$ has also been studied in [35, 43].



Figure 2.1: Stability and instability regions for fractional-order systems .

Now, we consider the N-dimensional fractional differential equation system (2.4) such that $1 < \alpha < 2$, under the initial conditions

$$y^{(k)}(0) = y_k \ (k = 0, 1). \tag{2.6}$$

The stability result of this case is presented in the following theorem

Theorem 2.3 [43]

The autonomous fractional differential system (2.4) with the initial conditions (2.6) is asymptotically stable iff $|\arg(spec(A))| > \frac{\alpha\pi}{2}$. Moreover, the system (2.4) is stable iff either it is asymptotically stable, or those critical eigenvalues which satisfy $|\arg(spec(A))| = \frac{\alpha\pi}{2}$ have the same algebraic and geometric multiplicities.

Proof This theorem was proved in [43]. \blacksquare

The figure (2.1) represents stability and instability regions of the complex plane, for $\alpha \in (0, 2)$.

Stability of fractional order nonlinear systems

In this subsection we introduce some necessary definitions, before we give the linearization and the stability theorems of fractional dynamical system.

Let consider the autonomous nonlinear differential system given as follows:

$$D^{\alpha}y(t) = f(y(t)), \qquad (2.7)$$

where $y(t) \in \mathbb{R}^N$, $y(0) = y_0$ and f(y) is continuous.

Definition 2.2 [44] Suppose that E is an equilibrium point of system (2.7), and that all the eigenvalues λ of the linearized matrix Df(E) at the equilibrium point E satisfy: $|\lambda| \neq 0$ and $|\arg(\lambda)| \neq \frac{\alpha \pi}{2}$, then we call E an hyperbolic equilibrium point.

Suppose f(t) and g(t) are continuous vector fields (defined on $U, V \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$), and they generate flows $\phi_{t,f} : U \to U, \phi_{t,g} : V \to V$.

Definition 2.3 [44] If there is an homeomorphism $h: U \to V$, satisfying: $h \circ \phi_{t,f}(y) = \phi_{t,g} \circ h(y)$, $y \in \delta(y_0, r) \subset U$, $y_0 \in U$ then f(y) and g(y) are locally topologically equivalent. If the above relation holds in the whole space U, then they are globally topologically equivalent.

Let the equilibrium point E be the origin.

Theorem 2.4 [44]

If the origin O is an hyperbolic equilibrium point of (2.7), then vector field f(y) is topologically equivalent with its linearization vector field Df(O)y in the neighborhood $\delta(O)$ of the origin O.

It follows from theorem 2.3 and theorem 2.4 that the equilibrium point E of the system (2.7) is locally asymptotically stable if all eigenvalues λ of the Jacobian matrix Df(E) evaluated at the equilibrium point satisfy [45]:

$$|\arg(\lambda)| > \frac{\alpha \pi}{2}.$$

As well known that in integer-order derivative, the stability of any hyperbolic equilibrium point of any dynamical system is determined by the signs of the real parts of the eigenvalues of its jacobian matrix. This result is equivalent to the algebraic procedure *Routh-Hurwitz criterion*. The Routh-Hurwitz criterion is well known for determining the stability of linear systems without involving root solving. In the chapter 3 we generalize this criterion to fractional-order systems of order $\alpha \in [0, 2)$.

2.2 Bifurcation and Chaos theories

In this section we present some important concepts like bifurcation and chaos of the dynamical system

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = f(y,\mu); \tag{2.8}$$

or the general form

$$\frac{d^{\alpha}y}{dt} = f(y,\mu); \quad \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^+,$$
(2.9)

where $y \in \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^r$, with the initial condition $y_0 = y(t_0)$.

2.2.1 Bifurcation theory

In the theory of dynamical systems a bifurcation is a change of the topological type of the system as its parameters pass through a bifurcation value (critical value), in this part we discuss the most important classes of bifurcations.

a) Saddle-node bifurcation

The saddle-node bifurcation is the basic mechanism by which fixed points are created and destroyed. As a parameter is varied, two fixed points move toward each other, collide, and mutually annihilate.

The prototypical example of a saddle-node bifurcation is given by the first order equation

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = \mu - y^2; \tag{2.10}$$

where μ is a real control parameter, and $y \in \mathbb{R}$.

When $\mu > 0$, there are two fixed points given by $y_{\pm}^* = \pm \sqrt{\mu}$ one stable and another one unstable, but for $\mu = 0$, the fixed points coalesce into a half-stable fixed point at $y^* = 0$, and there are no fixed points for $\mu < 0$, as illustrated in fig(2.2).

b) Transcritical bifurcation

The normal form of the transcritical bifurcation is

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = \mu y - y^2, \tag{2.11}$$



Figure 2.2: Saddle-node bifurcation diagram.



Figure 2.3: Transcritical bifurcation diagram.

where μ is a real bifurcation parameter, and $y \in \mathbb{R}$.

The two fixed points of (2.11) are $y_0^* = 0$ and $y_1^* = \mu$. For $\mu > 0$ there is a stable fixed point at $y_1^* = \mu$ and an unstable fixed point at $y_0^* = 0$, as μ increases, the unstable fixed point approaches the origin, and coalesces with it when $\mu = 0$, but for $\mu < 0$ the fixed points y_0^* and y_1^* switch their stability, as illustrated in fig(2.3).

c) Pitchfork bifurcation

There are two types of Pitchfork bifurcation, the supercritical and subcritical pitchfork bifurcations. The normal forms of the supercritical and the subcritical Pitchfork bifurcations are given respectively by:

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = \mu y - y^3,\tag{2.12}$$

and



Figure 2.4: Supercritical Pitchfork Bifurcation Diagram

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = \mu y + y^3, \tag{2.13}$$

where $y \in \mathbb{R}$, and μ is a real bifurcation parameter.

The equilibrium points of (2.12) are $y_0^* = 0$ if $\mu \leq 0$, this equilibrium point is stable for $\mu < 0$, but if $\mu = 0$ the linearization vanishes. When $\mu > 0$, (2.12) has three equilibrium points $y_0^* = 0$ which is unstable, and $y_{\pm}^* = \pm \sqrt{\mu}$ which are stable, as illustrated in fig(2.4).

d) Hopf bifurcation

A Hopf bifurcation occurs when an equilibrium point of the system (2.8) changes its stability property and the system starts to expand oscillating.

Assume that $(y^*, \mu^*) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ is an equilibrium point of (2.8), the conditions of Hopf bifurcation are [46]:

C1) The Jacobian matrix $Df(y^*, \mu^*)$ has algebraically simple eigenvalues $\pm i\omega(\mu^*) \neq 0$ and no other eigenvalues are lying on the imaginary axis.

C2)
$$\theta'(\mu^*) \neq 0$$
,

where $\theta(\mu) \pm i\omega(\mu)$ are an eigenvalues of $Df(y^*, \mu^*)$. The two conditions C1 and C2 are satisfied meaning that there exists a unique branch of periodic orbits of the system (2.8) bifurcating from (y^*, μ^*) .

2.2.2 Hopf bifurcation in fractional order systems

Let consider the system (2.8), such that $y \in \mathbb{R}^3$. As well known that the equilibrium point y^* of (2.8) is asymptotically stable if the real parts of all eigenvalues of the Jacobian matrix $Df(y^*)$ are negative, and it is unstable if there exist an eigenvalues such that it's real part positive. The conditions of system (2.8) to undergo a Hopf bifurcation at the equilibrium point y^* when $\mu = \mu^*$ are:

- * $D(P_{y^*}(\mu^*)) < 0$ (it means that the Jacobian matrix of (2.8) have one real eigenvalues $\lambda_1(\mu)$ and two complex conjugate $\lambda_{2,3} = \theta(\mu) \pm i\omega(\mu)$).
- * $\theta(\mu^*) = 0$ and $\lambda_1(\mu^*) \neq 0$.
- * $\omega(\mu^*) \neq 0.$
- * $\frac{d\theta}{d\mu}|_{\mu=\mu^*} \neq 0.$

But in the case of fractional differential system (2.9), the stability of y^* is determined by the sign of

$$m_i(\alpha,\mu) = \frac{\alpha\pi}{2} - |\arg(\lambda_i(\mu))|, \ i = 1, 2, 3.$$

If $m_i(\alpha, \mu) < 0$ for all i = 1, 2, 3, then y^* is locally asymptotically stable. If there exist i such that $m_i(\alpha, \mu) > 0$, then y^* is unstable. So, the function $m_i(\alpha, \mu)$ has a similar effect as the real part of eigenvalue in integer systems, therefore, the Hopf bifurcation conditions have been extended to the fractional systems by replacing $Re(\lambda_i(\mu))$ with $m_i(\alpha, \mu)$ as follows [21, 22]:

- * $Df_{y^*}(\mu^*) < 0$
- * $m_{2,3}(\alpha, \mu^*) = 0$ and $\lambda_1(\mu^*) \neq 0$.
- * $\frac{dm}{d\mu}|_{\mu=\mu^*} \neq 0.$

2.2.3 Chaos theory

Chaos theory is one of the main themes of dynamical system theory, there are many possible definitions of chaos in dynamical system. We begin by presenting the following definitions [47]:

Definition 2.4 $f : J \to J$ is said to be topologically transitive if for any pair of open sets $U, V \subset J$ there exists k > 0 such that $f^k(U) \cap V \neq \emptyset$.

Definition 2.5 $f: J \to J$ has sensitive dependence on initial conditions if there exists $\delta > 0$ such that, for any $x \in J$ and any neighborhood N of x, there exists $y \in N$ and $n \ge 0$ such that $|f^n(x) - f^n(y)| > \delta$.

Definition 2.6 A subset Y of X is called dense in X; if any point in X can be "well-approximated" by points in Y in the sense that any point in X is either an element or a limit point of Y. Equivalently, the closure of a subset Y in X is X itself.

Definition 2.7 Let V be a set. $f: V \to V$ is said to be chaotic on V if

- f is topologically transitive.
- f has sensitive dependence on initial conditions.
- Periodic points are dense in V.

But in general there is no widely accepted definition of chaos, because this phenomenon is more a philosophical notion than a scientific notion. We can observe the phenomenon of chaos in several areas, but how to formalize it? The answer is negative because until now, there is no general theory that gives an explanation or a final characterization of this phenomenon. All that can be said is that there are several physical criteria by which to confirm that a system is chaotic. Note that there are some definitions of chaos, but they remain restrictive, the most effective from a practical point of view is that given in [48]: Chaos can be defined as bounded steady-state behavior that is not an equilibrium point, not periodic, and not quasi-periodic.

2.2.4 Chaos quantification tools

It is not always easy to use the definition only to check for chaos. It is therefore essential to come up with other tests that are easier to use. In this section, we will consider two tests, the Lyapunov Exponent test and the 0 - 1 test, which can both be used to determine the dynamics of a system.

Lyapunov exponents

Lyapunov exponents are of interest in the study of dynamical systems, which provide a qualitative and quantitative characterization of dynamical behavior, they are related to the exponentially fast divergence or convergence of nearby orbits in phase space. The signs of the Lyapunov exponents provide a qualitative picture of a system's dynamics. For example in a three-dimensional continuous dissipative dynamical system the only possible spectra, and the attractors they describe, are as follows: (+, 0, -) a strange attractor, (0, 0, -) a tow-torus, (0, -, -) a limit cycle and (-, -, -) a fixed point. So, a system with one or more positive Lyapunov exponents is defined to be chaotic. The Lyapunov exponents have been studied widely in many papers such as [49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54].

Let consider a dynamical system with evolution equation

$$\dot{x_i} = f_i(x),$$

in an N-dimensional phase space.

The Lyapunov exponents describe the behavior of vectors in the tangent space of the phase space and are defined from the Jacobian matrix

$$J_{ij} = \frac{df_i(x(t))}{dx_i},$$

this Jacobian defines the evolution of the tangent vectors, given by the matrix Y, via the equation

$$\dot{Y} = JY,$$

The matrix Y describes how a small change at the point x(0) propagates to the final point x(t). The Lyapunov exponents are defined by the eigenvalues of the matrix $\frac{1}{2t}\log(Y^TY)$

$$\{\lambda_i(t)\} = \{\text{eigenvalues of } (\log(Y^T(t)Y(t))^{\frac{1}{2t}})\}.$$
(2.14)

The conditions for the convergence of $\log(Y^T(t)Y(t))^{\frac{1}{2t}}$ as $t \to \infty$ are given by the Oseledets theorem [49]. So, The Lyapunov exponents L_i are defined by

$$L_i = \lim_{t \to \infty} \lambda_i(t). \tag{2.15}$$

There are many algorithms for calculating Lyapunov exponents, one of the famous algorithms is the algorithm of Wolf [51], this algorithm allow the estimation of non-negative Lyapunov exponent from an experimental time series.

The steps of this algorithm are as follows:

- 1. Change of control parameter.
- 2. Random selection of an initial condition.
- 3. Creation of a new trajectory from the current trajectory to which we add a small disturbance.
- 4. Evolution in the attractor of these two neighboring trajectories and calculation of the average of the renormalized divergence between these two trajectories.
- 5. Readjustment of the deviation, thus allowing at each time step of the evolution of the previous point the calculation of an average of the divergence.
- 6. Return to step 4 performed according to a given number.
- 7. Return to step 1.
- 8. Representation of the largest Lyapunov exponent as a function of the given control parameter.

Lyapuov exponents of fractional-order systems

In this part we present the Benttin-Wolf algorithm to find all Lyapunov exponents for a class of fractional order systems. The existence of the variational equations which are necessary to determine those LEs which is ensures in the theorem (2.5), also this algorithm requires the numerical integration of differential equations of integer or fractional order, these numerical integrations are performed for example with the Adams-Bashforth-Moulton (ABM) method. Let us consider the autonomous fractional-order system (2.7)

Theorem 2.5 [55] System (2.7) has the following variational equations which define the LEs

$$D^{\alpha}\phi(t) = D_y f(y)\phi(t), \ \phi(0) = I,$$
 (2.16)

where ϕ is the matrix solution of the system (2.7), D_y is the Jacobian of f and I is the identity matrix.

The main steps of the algorithm to determine numerically all the Lyapunov exponents LEs are:

- 1. Numerical integration of the fractional-order system (2.7) together with the variational system (2.16), these numerical integrations are performed for example with the Adams-Bashforth-Moulton (ABM) method.
- 2. Gram-Schmidt procedure and picking up the exponents during the renormalization procedure.
- 3. The LEs begin determined as the average of the logarithm of the stretching factor of each perturbation.

These steps are presented in the following algorithm [56]

Input:

```
- ne (number of equations)
```

- y_{-} start (initial conditions of (2.7))

- t_start, t_end (time span)

- h_norm (Normalisation step-size)

- $n_it \leftarrow (t_end - t_start)/h_norm$ (iterations number)

for $i \leftarrow ne+1$ to ne(ne+1) do

```
y(i) = 1 (initial conditiond of (2.16))
```

end

```
t \leftarrow t_{-}start
```

```
for i \leftarrow 1 to n_{-}it do
```

 $y \leftarrow \text{integration of fractional order systems } (2.7)-(2.16))$

 $t \leftarrow t + h_n norm$ $zn(1), ..., zn(ne) \leftarrow \text{Gram-Schmidt procedure}$ for $k \leftarrow 1$ to ne do $s(k) \leftarrow 0$ $s(k) \leftarrow s(k) + log(zn(k))$ (vector magnitudes) $LE(k) \leftarrow s(k)/(t - t_start)$ (LEs)

end

end

Output: LE

The 0-1 test for validating chaos

Additional to the Lyapunov exponent test which determine if a given dynamical system is chaotic or non-chaotic, the 0 - 1 test is an other useful test. This test proposed by Gottwald and Melbourne in [57] for integer order differential equations, the input of this test is the time series data and the output is 0 or 1, depending on whether the dynamics is chaotic or non-chaotic. The extend of the 0 - 1 test to fractional order systems has been proposed by Cafagna and Grassi in [58].

We first define the following real valued function

$$p(n) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \phi(j) \cos(\theta(j)),$$
(2.17)

where ϕ is a one-dimensional observable data set obtained from the underlying dynamics and

$$\theta(j) = jc + \sum_{i=1}^{j} \phi(i), \quad j = 1, 2, \cdots, n$$
 (2.18)

and $c \in \mathbb{R}^+$ is a constant chosen at random.

On the basis of the function p(n), define the mean square displacement

$$M(n) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} [p(j+n) - p(j)]^2, \quad n = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$$
(2.19)

The mean square displacement M(n) grows linearly in time when the behaviour of p(n) is Brownian (i.e. the underling dynamics is chaotic). On the other hand M(n) proves to be bounded when the behaviour of p(n) is regular (i.e. the underling dynamics is non-chaotic). By defining the asymptotic growth rate

$$K = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\log M(n)}{\log n} \tag{2.20}$$

The growth rate K takes either the value K = 0 or K = 1, whene K = 0 means that the system is regular, and K = 1 means that the system is chaotic.

Chapter 3

Routh-Hurwitz Conditions for Fractional-Order Systems

The stability of a hyperbolic equilibrium point of any dynamical system with integer-order derivative is determined by the signs of the real parts of the eigenvalues of its Jacobian matrix. If all the eigenvalues of the Jacobian matrix have negative real parts then this hyperbolic equilibrium point is asymptotically stable. This result is equivalent to the algebraic procedure *Routh-Hurwitz criterion*. The *Routh-Hurwitz criterion* is well known for determining the stability of linear systems of the form

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t), \quad x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \text{ and } A \text{ is } n \times n \text{ real matrix},$$
(3.1)

without involving root solving. So this criterion provides also an answer to the question of stability by considering the characteristic equation of the system, which can be written as

$$P(\lambda) = \lambda^{n} + a_1 \lambda^{n-1} + a_2 \lambda^{n-2} + \dots + a_n = 0, \qquad (3.2)$$

where all the coefficients a_i are real constants. The *n* Hurwitz matrices are given by

$$H_1 = (a_1), H_2 = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_3 & a_2 \end{pmatrix}, \ H_3 = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 & 0 \\ a_3 & a_2 & a_1 \\ a_5 & a_4 & a_3 \end{pmatrix}, \dots$$

$$H_n = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ a_3 & a_2 & a_1 & \cdots & 0 \\ a_5 & a_4 & a_3 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & a_n \end{pmatrix},$$

where $a_j = 0$ if j > n. All of the roots of the polynomial $P(\lambda)$ have negative real part if and only if the determinants of all Hurwitz matrices are positive, that is:

$$Det(H_j) > 0, j = 1, ..., n.$$
 (3.3)

As in integer calculus, stability analysis is a central task in the study of fractional differential system and fractional control. Stability analysis of fractional differential equations was investigated by Matignon who produced the theorem(2.2) when the order of derivative is between 0 and 1.

This work is in fact the starting point of several results in the field. In recent papers in [59, 60, 61, 62], the authors derived some optimal *Routh-Hurwitz conditions* of the dynamical systems involving the Caputo fractional derivative of orders between 0 and 1. These new optimal *Routh-Hurwitz conditions* serve as necessary and sufficient conditions to guarantee that all roots of the characteristic polynomial obtained from the linearization process are located inside the Matignon stability sector when the order of the derivative is between 0 and 1.

If $0 < \alpha < 2$, an extension of Matignon's theorem is given in [63]. The given result permits to check the stability of any system of form given by (2.4) with $\alpha \in [0, 2)$ can be analyzed in a unified way by the location of the eigenvalues of matrix A in the complex plane. System described by (2.4) is hence asymptotically stable if and only if $|\arg(spec(A))| > \frac{\alpha\pi}{2}$, where $0 < \alpha < 2$.

In our work which referred by [23], we extend the *Routh-Hurwitz conditions* to fractional order systems of order $\alpha \in [0, 2)$. We use these results to investigate the stability properties of some population models. Numerical simulations which support our theoretical analysis are also given.

3.1 The Routh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional-order systems of order $\alpha \in [0, 1)$

First we recall that the equilibrium point of the system (2.4) for $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ is asymptotically stable if and only if the condition (2.5) is satisfied according to the Matignon's theorem (2.2). In [59, 62] some Routh-Hurwitz conditions have been generalized for n = 1, 2, 3, 4 to this case, the main results of these two papers are presented in the following proposition:

Proposition 3.1 [59]

- 1) For n = 1 the condition for (2.5) is $a_1 > 0$.
- 2) For n = 2 the condition for (2.5) are either Routh-Hurwitz conditions or

$$a_1 < 0, \quad 4a_2 > a_1^2 \text{ and } |\tan^{-1} \frac{\sqrt{4a_2 - a_1^2}}{a_1}| > \frac{\alpha \pi}{2}.$$
 (3.4)

3) For n = 3

a) If D(P) > 0, then the Routh-Hurwitz conditions are necessary and sufficient conditions for every $\alpha \in [0, 1)$ to have (2.5) satisfied:

$$a_1 > 0$$
, $a_3 > 0$ and $a_1a_2 > a_3$.

b) If D(P) < 0, then
i) If a₁ ≥ 0, a₂ ≥ 0, a₃ > 0 and α < ²/₃, then (2.5) is satisfied.
ii) a₁ < 0, a₂ < 0, a₃ > 0 and α > ²/₃, then (2.5) is not satisfied.
iii) If a₁ > 0, a₂ > 0, a₁a₂ = a₃, then (2.5) is satisfied for all α ∈ [0, 1[.

4) For
$$n = 4$$

a) If D(P) > 0, a₁ > 0, a₂ < 0 and α > ²/₃ then (2.5) is not satisfied.
b) If D(P) < 0, then
i) If a₁ > 0, a₂ > 0, a₃ > 0, a₄ > 0, and α < ¹/₃ then (2.5) is satisfied.

- *ii)* If $a_1 < 0$, $a_2 > 0$, $a_3 < 0$, $a_4 > 0$, then (2.5) is not satisfied.
- *iii)* If $a_1 > 0, a_2 > 0, a_3 > 0, a_4 > 0$ and $a_2 = \frac{a_1 a_4}{a_3} + \frac{a_3}{a_1}$, then (2.5) is satisfied, for all $\alpha \in [0, 1]$.
- **5)** For general $n, a_n > 0$ is a necessary conditions for (2.5).

Proof This proposition was proved in the following section.

3.2 The Routh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional-order systems of order $\alpha \in [0, 2)$

Since most biological systems are 1, 2, 3 or 4-dimensional, we will consider only fractional-order system with dimension n = 2, 3 and 4.

- **Remark 3.1** For $\alpha \in [0, 1[$, the Routh-Hurwitz conditions (3.3) are sufficient but not necessary to have (2.5) satisfied.
- For α ∈]1,2), the Routh-Hurwitz conditions (3.3) are necessary but not sufficient in general case to have (2.5) satisfied.

3.2.1 Routh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional-order two dimensional systems

Proposition 3.2

Consider the fractional linear system (2.4) with its corresponding characteristic equation (3.2). For n = 2, the necessary and sufficient conditions for every $\alpha \in [0, 2]$ to have (2.5) satisfied are

$$a_2 > 0 \text{ and } a_1 > -2\sqrt{a_2}\cos(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2}).$$
 (3.5)

Proof For n = 2 the characteristic polynomial is

$$P(\lambda) = \lambda^2 + a_1\lambda + a_2.$$

Its discriminant is $D(P) = a_1^2 - 4a_2$.

1. If
$$D(P) \ge 0$$
 (i.e $a_2 \in \left[-\infty, \frac{a_1^2}{4}\right]$), then $P(\lambda)$ have two real roots given by
 $\lambda_{\pm} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(a_1 \mp \sqrt{a_1^2 - 4a_2}\right).$

For $\alpha \in [0, 2[$, we have

- a) $\left(a_2 < 0 \text{ or } (a_2 \in [0, \frac{a_1^2}{4}] \text{ and } a_1 \leq -2\sqrt{a_2})\right) \Rightarrow \lambda_+ > 0$, then $\arg(\lambda_+) = 0 \leq \alpha \frac{\pi}{2}$, thus (2.5) is not satisfied.
- **b)** $\left(a_2 \in \left[0, \frac{a_1^2}{4}\right] \text{ and } a_1 \ge 2\sqrt{a_2}\right) \Rightarrow \lambda_{\pm} < 0$, then $\arg(\lambda_+) = \pi > \alpha \frac{\pi}{2}$, thus (2.5) is satisfied.
- 2. If D(P) < 0 (i.e $a_2 \in]\frac{a_1^2}{4}, \infty[)$, then $P(\lambda)$ have two complex conjugate roots given by

$$\lambda_{\pm} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(a_1 \mp i \sqrt{4a_2 - a_1^2} \right),$$

then $\tan(\theta) = -\frac{\sqrt{4a_2 - a_1^2}}{a_1}$, where $\theta = |\arg(\lambda_{\pm})|$. One emphasis two possibility

a) When $\alpha \in [0,1[$ (i.e $\alpha \frac{\pi}{2} \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}[)$ then if $(a_1 > 0 \text{ and } a_2 \in]\frac{a_1^2}{4}, \infty[)$, it follows that $\tan(\theta) < 0$, then $\theta \in]\frac{\pi}{2}, \pi[$. Therefore $\theta > \alpha \frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, (2.5) is satisfied. But if $-2\sqrt{a_2}\cos(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2}) < a_1 < 0$ and $a_2 \in]\frac{a_1^2}{4}, \infty[$, then $\tan(\theta) > 0$ and $\tan^2(\theta) > \tan^2(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2})$, it follows that $\tan(\theta) > \tan(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2})$. Therefore $\theta > \alpha \frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, (2.5) is satisfied.

On the other hand if $(a_1 < -2\sqrt{a_2}\cos(\alpha\frac{\pi}{2}) < 0$ and $a_2 \in]\frac{a_1^2}{4}, \infty[)$, then $(\tan(\theta) > 0$ and $\tan^2(\theta) < \tan^2(\alpha\frac{\pi}{2}))$, it follows that $\tan(\theta) < \tan(\alpha\frac{\pi}{2})$. Therefore $\theta < \alpha\frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, (2.5) is not satisfied.

b) When $\alpha \in [1, 2[$ (i.e $\alpha \frac{\pi}{2} \in [\frac{\pi}{2}, \pi[)$, then if $(a_1 < 0 \text{ and } a_2 \in]\frac{a_1^2}{4}, \infty[)$, it follows that $\tan(\theta) > 0$, hence $\theta \in]0, \frac{\pi}{2}[$. Therefore $\theta < \alpha \frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, (2.5) is not satisfied. But if $(0 < a_1 < -2\sqrt{a_2}\cos(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2}) \text{ and } a_2 \in]\frac{a_1^2}{4}, \infty[)$, then $(\tan(\theta) < 0 \text{ and } \tan^2(\theta) > \tan^2(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2}))$, it follows that $\tan(\theta) < \tan(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2})$. Therefore $\theta < \alpha \frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, (2.5) is not satisfied. On the other hand if $(0 < -2\sqrt{a_2}\cos(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2}) < a_1$ and $a_2 \in]\frac{a_1^2}{4}, \infty[)$, then $(\tan(\theta) < 0$ and $\tan^2(\theta) < \tan^2(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2}))$, it follows $\tan(\theta) > \tan(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2})$. Therefore $\theta > \alpha \frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, (2.5) is satisfied.

Finally we summarizes the proof as follows

* From (1-b), (2-a) and (2-b) we have

- if $(a_2 > 0 \text{ and } a_1 > -2\sqrt{a_2}\cos(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2}))$, then $\theta = |\arg(\lambda_{\pm})| > \alpha \frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, (2.5) is satisfied.

- When $a_2 = 0$ then $\lambda_+ = 0$. Thus, $\arg(\lambda_+)$ is not defined and (2.5) is not satisfied.

* From (1-a), (2-a) and (2-b) we have

- if $(a_2 < 0 \text{ or } (a_2 > 0 \text{ and } a_1 \le -2\sqrt{a_2}\cos(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2})))$, then $|\arg(\lambda_+)| \le \alpha \frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, (2.5) is not satisfied.

3.2.2 Stability diagram and phase portraits classification for fractionalorder planar systems

Consider the planar case of system (2.4), where $\alpha \in [0, 2)$. The characteristic equation of the matrix A can be written as

$$P(\lambda) = \lambda^2 - \tau \lambda + \Delta = 0.$$

where $\tau = Tr(A) = -a_1$ is the trace of the matrix A, and $\Delta = Det(A) = a_2$ its determinant.

Remark 3.2 The conditions (3.5) to have (2.5) satisfied are equivalent to:

$$\Delta > 0 \ and \ \frac{\tau}{2} < \sqrt{\Delta}.cos(\frac{\alpha \pi}{2}). \tag{3.6}$$

• For $0 \le \alpha < 1$, (3.6) is equivalent to

$$\frac{\tau^2}{4}sec^2(\frac{\alpha\pi}{2}) < \Delta. \tag{3.7}$$

• For $1 < \alpha < 2$, (3.6) is equivalent to

$$\frac{\tau^2}{4}sec^2(\frac{\alpha\pi}{2}) > \Delta > 0. \tag{3.8}$$

Using the conditions (3.7), (3.8) and taking into-account the following observations:

- For Δ < 0, the two eigenvalues are real and have opposite signs; hence the fixed point is a saddle.
- For $\Delta > 0$, the eigenvalues are either real with the same sign (node point if, $\tau^2 4\Delta > 0$), or complex conjugate (spiral point, if $\tau^2 4\Delta < 0$.).
- The parabola $\tau^2 4\Delta = 0$. is the borderline between nodes and spirals.
- The curve of equation

$$\tau = 2\sqrt{\Delta}\cos(\alpha \frac{\pi}{2}).$$

(i.e a branches of parabola of equation $\Delta = \frac{\tau^2}{4} \sec^2(\frac{\alpha \pi}{2})$) is the borderline between stability and instability region of the fixed point in the half plane $\Delta > 0$.

We can draw the stability diagram and phase portraits classification in the (τ, Δ) plane as shown in Figure. (3.1), where the stability area is with green colour. From this figure we observe that:

- When $\alpha \to 1$ we find the same stability diagram and phase portrait classification as in the integer systems.
- The stability area for $\alpha < 1$ is wider than stability area for the integer case.
- The stability area for $\alpha > 1$ is narrower than stability area for the integer case.

3.2.3 Routh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional-order three dimensional systems

Proposition 3.3

For n = 3

1) If D(P) > 0, then the Routh-Hurwitz conditions (3.3) are the necessary and sufficient conditions for every $\alpha \in [0, 2]$ to have (2.5) satisfied:

$$a_1 > 0$$
, $a_3 > 0$ and $a_1 a_2 > a_3$.



Figure 3.1: Stability diagram and phase portraits classification in the (τ, Δ) -plane for planer fractional-order system.

- 2) If D(P) < 0 and $\alpha \in [0, 2[$, then
- i) If $a_1 \ge 0$, $a_2 \ge 0$, $a_3 > 0$ then we have: If $\alpha < \frac{2}{3}$, then (2.5) is satisfied, but if $\alpha > \frac{4}{3}$, then (2.5) is not satisfied.
- *ii)* If $a_1 > 0$, $a_2 > 0$, $a_1a_2 = a_3$, then (2.5) is satisfied for all $\alpha \in [0, 1[$, and (2.5) is not satisfied for all $\alpha \in [1, 2[$.

Proof For n = 3 the characteristic polynomial is

$$P(\lambda) = \lambda^3 + a_1 \lambda^2 + a_2 \lambda + a_3. \tag{3.9}$$

- If D(P) > 0, then P(λ) = 0 have three real roots hence Routh-Hurwitz conditions are necessary and sufficient for (2.5).
- 2) If D(P) < 0, then $P(\lambda) = 0$ have one real root $\lambda_1 = -b$ and two complex conjugate roots $\lambda_{2,3} = \beta \pm i\gamma$. Thus,

$$P(\lambda) = (\lambda+b)(\lambda-\beta-i\gamma)(\lambda-\beta+i\gamma), \text{ it follow that} \begin{cases} a_1 = b - 2\beta, \\ a_2 = \beta^2 + \gamma^2 - 2b\beta, \\ a_3 = (\beta^2 + \gamma^2)b, b > 0. \end{cases}$$

i) * If
$$\begin{cases} a_1 \ge 0, \\ a_2 \ge 0, \end{cases}$$
 then
$$\begin{cases} b \ge 2\beta, \\ \beta^2 + \gamma^2 \ge 2b\beta \ge 4\beta^2, \end{cases}$$

hence
$$\theta \in [\frac{\pi}{3}, \frac{2\pi}{3}]$$
, where $\theta = |arg(\lambda)|$.
* If $\alpha < \frac{2}{3}$, then $\theta > \frac{\alpha\pi}{2}$. But if $\alpha > \frac{4}{3}$, then $\theta < \frac{\alpha\pi}{2}$.

ii) If $a_1a_2 = a_3$, then $\beta(\beta^2 + \gamma^2 + b^2 - 2b\beta) = 0$, hence $\beta = 0$ or $\beta^2 + \gamma^2 + b^2 - 2b\beta = 0$. The second equality is not valid, that is $\beta = 0$, then $|arg(\lambda_{\pm})| = \frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, (2.5) is satisfied for all $\alpha \in [0, 1[$, and (2.5) is not satisfied for all $\alpha \in [1, 2[$.

In the general case we use the following proposition.

Proposition 3.4

For n = 3 and $\alpha \in [0,2)$. If D(P) < 0. Then, the necessary and sufficient conditions to have (2.5) satisfied are

$$\begin{cases} a_3 > 0, \\ (1 + sign(3(u+v) + 2a_1)) - sign(3(u+v) + 2a_1)\frac{2}{\pi} \left| tan^{-1}(-3\sqrt{3}\frac{u-v}{3(u+v) + 2a_1}) \right| > \alpha, \end{cases}$$

where

$$u = {}^{3}\sqrt{\frac{-q + \sqrt{\frac{4}{27}p^{3} + q^{2}}}{2}} \quad and \quad v = {}^{3}\sqrt{\frac{-q - \sqrt{\frac{4}{27}p^{3} + q^{2}}}{2}}, \tag{3.10}$$

with

$$p = a_2 - \frac{a_1^2}{3}$$
 and $q = \frac{a_1}{27}(2a_1^2 - 9a_2) + a_3.$ (3.11)

Proof If D(P) < 0. Then, $P(\lambda)$ has one real root λ_1 and two complex conjugate roots λ_i , i = 2, 3.

Substituting λ in equation (3.9) by $x - \frac{a_1}{3}$ (the Tschirnhaus transformation) we get the equation

$$x^3 + px + q = 0, (3.12)$$

where p and q are given by (3.11).

The left hand side of equation (3.12) is a monic trinomial called a depressed cubic.

Any formula for the roots of a depressed cubic may be transformed into a formula for the roots of equation (3.9) using (3.11) and the relation

$$\lambda = x - \frac{a_1}{3}.\tag{3.13}$$

following Cardano's method the real root of (3.12) is given by

$$x_1 = u + v, \tag{3.14}$$

where the two variables u and v are given by (3.10). The complex roots are given by

$$x_2 = ju + \bar{j}v$$
 and $x_3 = j^2 u + \bar{j}^2 v$, (3.15)

where $j = e^{i\frac{2\pi}{3}} = -\frac{1}{2} + i\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}$.

Using (3.11) and (3.13) we obtain the roots of $P(\lambda)$. Namely,

$$\lambda_{1} = u + v - \frac{a_{1}}{3},$$

$$\lambda_{2} = ju + \bar{j}v - \frac{a_{1}}{3} = -\frac{1}{6}(3(u+v) + 2a_{1} - i3\sqrt{3}(u-v)),$$

$$\lambda_{3} = j^{2}u + \bar{j^{2}}v - \frac{a_{1}}{3} = -\frac{1}{6}(3(u+v) + 2a_{1} + i3\sqrt{3}(u-v)).$$

We have

$$P(\lambda) = (\lambda - \lambda_1)(\lambda + \frac{1}{6}(3(u+v) + 2a_1 - i3\sqrt{3}(u-v)))(\lambda + \frac{1}{6}(3(u+v) + 2a_1 + i3\sqrt{3}(u-v))),$$

it follow that $a_3 = -\lambda_1((3\sqrt{3}(u-v))^2 + (\frac{1}{6}(3(u+v)+2a_1)^2))$, then $a_3 > 0$ imply that $\lambda_1 < 0$. Thus, $|\arg(\lambda_1)| > \frac{\alpha\pi}{2}$.

On the other hand

• If
$$3(u+v) + 2a_1 < 0$$
 then $|\arg(\lambda_{2,3})| = \left| tan^{-1}(-3\sqrt{3}\frac{u-v}{3(u+v)+2a_1}) \right|$, thus,
 $(1 + sign(3(u+v)+2a_1)) - sign(3(u+v)+2a_1)\frac{2}{\pi} \left| tan^{-1}(-3\sqrt{3}\frac{u-v}{3(u+v)+2a_1}) \right| > \alpha$
imply that $\frac{2}{\pi} \left| tan^{-1}(-3\sqrt{3}\frac{u-v}{3(u+v)+2a_1}) \right| > \alpha$, then $|\arg(\lambda_{2,3})| > \frac{\alpha\pi}{2}$.

• If
$$3(u+v) + 2a_1 > 0$$
 then

$$\left|\arg(\lambda_{2,3})\right| = \pi - \left|\tan^{-1}(-3\sqrt{3}\frac{u-v}{3(u+v)+2a_1})\right|$$
$$= \frac{(1+sign(3(u+v)+2a_1))}{2}\pi - sign(3(u+v)+2a_1)\left|\tan^{-1}(-3\sqrt{3}\frac{u-v}{3(u+v)+2a_1})\right|,$$
$$\text{thus, } (1+sign(3(u+v)+2a_1)) - sign(3(u+v)+2a_1)\frac{2}{\pi}\left|\tan^{-1}(-3\sqrt{3}\frac{u-v}{3(u+v)+2a_1})\right| > \alpha$$

imply that
$$|\arg(\lambda_{2,3})| > \frac{\alpha\pi}{2}$$
.

3.2.4 Routh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional-order four dimensional systems

Proposition 3.5

For n = 4

- 1. The conditions (3.3) are sufficient conditions for the equilibrium point x^* to be locally asymptotically stable for all $\alpha \in [0, 1)$, but they are necessary conditions for all $\alpha \in [1, 2)$.
- 2. If D(P) > 0, $a_1 > 0$, $a_2 < 0$ and $\alpha \in [\frac{2}{3}, 2]$ then the equilibrium point x^* is unstable.
- 3. If D(P) < 0, a₁ > 0, a₂ > 0, a₃ > 0, a₄ > 0, then the equilibrium point x* is locally asymptotically stable for all α ∈ [0, ½].
 Also, if D(P) < 0, a₁ < 0, a₂ > 0, a₃ < 0, a₄ > 0, then the equilibrium point x* is unstable for all α ∈ [0, 2].
- 4. If $D(P) < 0, a_1 > 0, a_2 > 0, a_3 > 0, a_4 > 0$ and $a_2 = \frac{a_1a_4}{a_3} + \frac{a_3}{a_1}$, then the equilibrium point x^* is locally asymptotically stable, for all $\alpha \in [0, 1[$ and unstable for all $\alpha \in [1, 2]$.
- 5. $a_4 > 0$ is the necessary condition for the equilibrium point x^* to be locally asymptotically stable.

Proof

- 1. We emphasis two cases:
 - For $\alpha \in [0, 1[$, assume that the conditions (3.3) are satisfied, then all real eigenvalues and all real parts of complex conjugate eigenvalues of Eq. (3.2) are negative, hence, these conditions (3.3) implies that all the eigenvalues of (3.2) lie in the left-half complex plane then $|\arg(\lambda_i)| > \frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, $|\arg(\lambda_i)| > \frac{\pi}{2} > \alpha \frac{\pi}{2}$. Therefore x^* is locally asymptotically stable.
 - For $\alpha \in [1, 2]$, we have $\alpha \frac{\pi}{2} \geq \frac{\pi}{2}$. Assume that (2.5) is satisfied then $|\arg(\lambda_i)| > \alpha \frac{\pi}{2}$, implies that $|\arg(\lambda_i)| > \frac{\pi}{2}$. Therefore the asymptotic stability of x^* imply that the conditions (3.3) are satisfied.
- 2. Notice that if D(P) > 0 then there exists 4 distinct real roots r_1, r_2, r_3, r_4 or two pairs of complex eigenvalues $\lambda_{1,2} = \beta_1 \pm j\gamma_1$, and $\lambda_{3,4} = \beta_2 \pm j\gamma_2$.

In the case of real roots we have

$$a_{1} = -(r_{1} + r_{2} + r_{3} + r_{4}),$$

$$a_{2} = r_{1}r_{2} + r_{1}r_{3} + r_{1}r_{4} + r_{2}r_{3} + r_{2}r_{4} + r_{3}r_{4},$$

$$a_{3} = -[r_{1}r_{2}r_{3} + r_{1}r_{2}r_{4} + r_{1}r_{3}r_{4} + r_{2}r_{3}r_{4}],$$

$$a_{4} = r_{1}r_{2}r_{3}r_{4}.$$

Clearly, $a_2 < 0$ implies that at last two real roots have opposite signs. Hence the equilibrium point x^* is unstable. In the other case:

$$a_{1} = -2(\beta_{1} + \beta_{2}),$$

$$a_{2} = \beta_{1}^{2} + \gamma_{1}^{2} + \beta_{2}^{2} + \gamma_{2}^{2} + 4\beta_{1}\beta_{2},$$

$$a_{3} = -2[\beta_{1}(\beta_{2}^{2} + \gamma_{2}^{2}) + \beta_{2}(\beta_{1}^{2} + \gamma_{1}^{2})],$$

$$a_{4} = (\beta_{1}^{2} + \gamma_{1}^{2})(\beta_{2}^{2} + \gamma_{2}^{2}).$$

We have $a_2 < 0$ imply that $\beta_2^2 \sec^2 \theta + \beta_1^2 + \gamma_1^2 + 4\beta_1\beta_2 < 0$, where $\theta = |\arg \lambda_{3,4}|$. therefore $\beta_2^2 \sec^2 \theta < -4\beta_1\beta_2$, which imply that $\beta_1\beta_2 < 0$ (i.e β_1 and β_2 are of opposite signs), Without loss of generality, suppose that $\beta_1 < 0$, $\beta_2 > 0$, then using the condition $a_1 > 0$, we get

$$\beta_2^2 \sec^2 \theta < -4\beta_1\beta_2 < 4\beta_2^2.$$

This implies that $\theta < \pi/3$. Hence, the equilibrium point x^* is unstable for all $\alpha \in [\frac{2}{3}, 2]$.

3. If D(P) < 0 then there exists two real roots $\lambda_1 = r_1, \lambda_2 = r_2$, and one pair of complex eigenvalues $\lambda_{3,4} = \beta \pm j\gamma$. Then we have

$$a_{1} = -(r_{1} + r_{2} + 2\beta),$$

$$a_{2} = r_{1}r_{2} + \beta^{2} + \gamma^{2} + 2\beta(r_{1} + r_{2}),$$

$$a_{3} = -2\beta r_{1}r_{2} - (r_{1} + r_{2})(\beta^{2} + \gamma^{2}),$$

$$a_{4} = r_{1}r_{2}(\beta^{2} + \gamma^{2}).$$

Assume that $a_1 > 0, a_2 > 0, a_3 > 0, a_4 > 0$ there are zero changes in sign of the coefficients of the characteristic polynomial $P(\lambda)$, then by Descartes' rule of signs, it follows that there is no positive real roots of $P(\lambda)$, this implies that $r_1 < 0$ and $r_2 < 0$. On the other hand $a_3 > 0$ implies that $2\beta r_1 r_2 + (r_1 + r_2)\beta^2 \sec^2\theta < 0$.

We distinguish two cases:

1. If $\beta \leq 0$, then x^* is locally asymptotically stable for all $\alpha \in [0, 1[$, particularly for $\alpha \in [0, \frac{1}{2}[$.

2. If $\beta > 0$, then $-\frac{(r_1+r_2)}{2}\beta \sec^2 \theta > r_1r_2$ and $a_2 > 0$ implies that $r_1r_2 > -2\beta(r_1+r_2) - \beta^2 \sec^2 \theta$, where $\theta = |\arg \lambda_{3,4}|$. Therefore, $-\frac{(r_1+r_2)}{2}\beta \sec^2 \theta > -2\beta(r_1+r_2) - \beta^2 \sec^2 \theta$, then $-(r_1+r_2)[\frac{\beta}{2}\sec^2 \theta - 2\beta] > -\beta^2 \sec^2 \theta$, it follow that $\beta^2 \sec^2 \theta > -(r_1+r_2)[-\frac{\beta}{2}\sec^2 \theta + 2\beta]$, then $a_1 > 0$ implies that $-(r_1+r_2) > 2\beta$, therefore $\beta^2 \sec^2 \theta > 2\beta[-\frac{\beta}{2}\sec^2 \theta + 2\beta]$. Thus, $\beta^2 \sec^2 \theta > -\beta^2 \sec^2 \theta + 4\beta^2$ which implies that $\sec^2 \theta > 2$, therefore $\frac{\pi}{4} < \theta < \frac{\pi}{2}$. Then x^* is locally asymptotically stable for all $\alpha \in [0, \frac{1}{2}[$.

If the conditions $a_1 < 0, a_2 > 0, a_3 < 0, a_4 > 0$ are satisfied then there are zero changes in sign of the coefficients of the polynomial $P(-\lambda)$, then by Descartes' rule of signs, it follows that there is no positive real roots of $P(-\lambda)$, this mean that there is no negative real roots for the characteristic polynomial $P(\lambda)$, therefore $r_1 > 0$ and $r_2 > 0$. Thus, the equilibrium point x^* is unstable for all $\alpha \in [0, 2]$.

- 4. Notice that $D(P) < 0, a_1 > 0, a_2 > 0, a_3 > 0, a_4 > 0$ imply that there are two negative real eigenvalues, and the condition $a_2 = \frac{a_1 a_4}{a_3} + \frac{a_3}{a_1}$ implies that the two other eigenvalues are $\lambda_{3,4} = \pm i \sqrt{\frac{a_3}{a_1}}$, which lie on the imaginary axis (i.e $|\arg \lambda_{3,4}| = \frac{\pi}{2}$). Consequently, if $\alpha \in [0, 1[$, then all eigenvalues lie in the stable region, and if $\alpha \in [1, 2]$, then $\lambda_{3,4}$ lie on the unstable region.
- 5. The part (5) is proved in [60] for general n, which includes our current case.

Remark 3.3 • Although the stability criteria given by inequality (2.5) with the fractional order α as the main variable, remain valid for both cases $\alpha \in [0,1)$ and $\alpha \in (1,2]$ the stability area in the parameter space does not remain the same as illustrated in Figure 3.1, where the stability region (green colour) for $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ is restricted than the stability region for $\alpha \in [0, 1)$, indicating a high requirement on the parameter to have stability for $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ than for $\alpha \in [0, 1)$.

We have reported a common form of stability conditions on parameters for both cases $\alpha \in [0,1)$ and $\alpha \in (1,2]$, for dimension n = 2 and n = 3 in proposition 3.2. and proposition 3.4. respectively, but for n = 4 no common form where fond.

• Although the results presented in propositions 3.2-3.5 elaborate conditions on parameters for satisfying necessary and sufficient conditions for stability of equilibrium points, the proposed analysis is limited to restricted order of characteristic equation resulted from the Jacobian matrix.

Remark 3.4 The validity of Routh-Hurwitz conditions derived in [60], for fractional order differential systems, is limited to fractional order $\alpha \in [0,1)$, but the validity of conditions proposed in the present paper is demonstrated for fractional order $\alpha \in [0,2)$. Furthermore for the first time the stability diagram and phases portrait classification for fractional order planar differential systems in the (τ, Δ) plane are reported in the present paper.

3.3 Applications to population dynamics

The interactions between population models either prey and predator species or epidemiological models can be predicted by simple mathematical models [64, 65, 66]. All population species posses the property of heredity which means the passing on of traits from parents to their offspring, either through asexual reproduction or sexual reproduction, the offspring cells or organisms acquire the genetic information of their parents. Through heredity. Variations between individuals can accumulate and cause species to evolve by natural selection. This property makes fractional differential equations may model more efficiently certain problems than ordinary differential equations. In this work we apply our theoretical results to three population fractional-order models. We consider some classical models existing in the literature, but modeled by a system of fractional differential equations. The first one is the fractional-order Holling-Tanner model [67],

the second one is the fractional-order super-predator, predator and prey community model [68] and the last one is a Heroin epidemic model [69].

3.3.1 The fractional-order Holling-Tanner model

Example 3.1 Let consider the fractional order Holling-Tanner model

Where $\alpha \in [0,2)$, $x(t) \geq 0$ and $y(t) \geq 0$ are the density of prey and predator populations at time t respectively. The parameters r_1 and r_2 are the intrinsic growth rates, K represents the carrying capacity of the prey, q is the maximum number of prey that can be eaten per predator per unit of time, m is a saturation value, it corresponds to the number of prey necessary to achieve one half the maximum rate q, γ is a measure of the quality of the prey as a food for the predator. For example for $r_1 = 1$, $r_2 = 0.2$, K = 7, $q = \frac{6}{7}$, m = 1 and $\gamma = 0.4$, the system (3.16) has two equilibrium points $E_0 = (7,0)$ and $E_1 = (5,2)$.

• The characteristic polynomial of the Jacobian matrix evaluated at E_0 is given by

$$P(\lambda) = \lambda^2 + 0.8\lambda - 0.2\lambda$$

So $a_2 = -0.2 < 0$, then according to Proposition(3.2) E_0 is unstable for all $\alpha \in [0, 2)$.

• The characteristic polynomial of the Jacobian matrix evaluated at E_1 is given by

$$P(\lambda) = \lambda^2 + \frac{71}{105}\lambda + \frac{16}{105}$$

So $a_1 = \frac{71}{105}$ and $a_2 = \frac{16}{105} > 0$, according to Proposition (3.2) the critical value of α is

$$\alpha_c = \frac{2}{\pi} \cos^{-1}(\frac{-a_1}{2\sqrt{a_2}}) \approx 1.6668.$$

Then E_1 is locally asymptotically stable for all $\alpha < \alpha_c$, Figure (3.2), illustrate these results. We observe that for $\alpha = 1.5$ and for $\alpha = 1.66$ the trajectory initiated near E_1 spiral toward E_1 , which is locally asymptotically stable for all fractional order $\alpha < \alpha_c$, but for $\alpha = 1.67$ and $\alpha = 1.7$ the trajectories initiated near E_1 are repulsed by E_1 which is unstable for $\alpha > \alpha_c$. Particularly for α not too far from α_c the trajectories spiral toward an S-asymptotically periodic solution of (3.16) [70, 71], giving rise to a periodic behavior of the model.

3.3.2 The fractional-order super-predator, predator and prey community model

Example 3.2 The fractional-order super-predator, predator and prey community model introduced in [68] by

$$\begin{cases} D^{\alpha}x = x(\rho - \omega y), \\ D^{\alpha}y = y(-\mu + \beta x - \gamma z), \\ D^{\alpha}z = z(1-z) + \delta yz. \end{cases}$$
(3.17)

Where $\alpha \in [0,2), x \ge 0, y \ge 0$ and $z \ge 0$ are the biomass densities of prey, predator and super-predator respectively. All parameters of the model are positive and constant values. The equilibrium point of (3.17) is $E^* = (x^*, y^*, z^*)$, such that:

$$x^* = \frac{\mu}{\beta} + \frac{\gamma}{\beta}(1 + \frac{\delta\rho}{\omega}), \ y^* = \frac{\rho}{\omega}, \ z^* = 1 + \frac{\delta\rho}{\omega}.$$

The characteristic polynomial of the Jacobian matrix of (3.17) at E^* is

$$P(\lambda) = \lambda^3 + z^* \lambda^2 + (\gamma \delta z^* + \omega \beta x^*) y^* \lambda + \omega \beta x^* y^* z^*.$$

We have

$$\begin{cases} a_1 = z^* > 0, \\ a_2 = (\gamma \delta z^* + \omega \beta x^*) y^* > 0, \\ a_3 = \omega \beta x^* y^* z^* > 0. \end{cases}$$

If D(P) > 0, we have $a_1a_2 > a_3$, by Proposition (3.3), we have the local asymptotic stability of E^* for all $\alpha \in [0, 2]$.

If D(P) < 0, then according to the Proposition (3.3), E^* is locally asymptotically stable for all $\alpha < \frac{2}{3}$ and it is unstable for all $\alpha > \frac{4}{3}$, as shown in Figure (3.3), where for $\alpha = 0.66 < \frac{2}{3}$ the trajectory starting near E^* is attracted by it indicating local asymptotic stability, but for $\alpha = 1.34 > \frac{4}{3}$ the trajectory starting near E^* is repulsed by it indicating its instability. two values



Figure 3.2: a) Phase portrait and b) Time evolutions of system (3.16) for some values of α with the parameter values $r_1 = 1$, $r_2 = 0.2$, K = 7, $q = \frac{6}{7}$, m = 1 and $\gamma = 0.4$.

of the fractional order α .

For $\alpha \in [\frac{2}{3}, \frac{4}{3}]$, we use the Proposition (3.4), for example for $\omega = 1$, $\beta = 2$, $\mu = 1$, $\gamma = 1$, $\rho = 4$ and $\delta = 3$. We have D(P) = -15109584 < 0, u = 7.2936 and v = -7.1142. The critical value of α is

$$\alpha_c = \pi - \frac{2}{\pi} |tan^{-1}(\frac{-3\sqrt{3}(u-v)}{3(u+v) + 2a_1})| \approx 1.2169.$$

Thus the equilibrium point E^* is locally asymptotically stable for all $\alpha < \alpha_c$, as illustrated in Figure (3.3), where for $\alpha = 1.21 < \alpha_c$ the trajectory starting in the vicinity of E^* is attracted by it which confirm that E^* is locally asymptotically stable, but for $\alpha = 1.22 > \alpha_c$ the trajectory starting in the vicinity of E^* is repulsed by it indicating its instability.

3.3.3 The fractional-order Heroin epidemic model

Example 3.3 Let consider the following fractional-order Heroin epidemic model of four subpopulation [69], with susceptibles x, heroin users not in treatment y, heroin users undergoing treatment z and heroin users who have been successfully treated from heroin use w:

$$\begin{cases} D^{\alpha}x = \Lambda - \beta yx - \mu x, \\ D^{\alpha}y = \beta yx + \rho y - (\mu + \delta_1 + \xi)y - \frac{\kappa y}{1 + \omega y}, \\ D^{\alpha}z = \frac{\kappa y}{1 + \omega y} - (\rho + \sigma + \delta_2 + \mu)z, \\ D^{\alpha}w = \sigma z + \xi y - \mu w. \end{cases}$$
(3.18)

Where $\alpha \in [0, 2)$, and all parameters of the model are positive. The system (3.18) has two equilibrium points $E = (\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0)$ and $E^* = (x^*, y^*, z^*, w^*)$, such that

$$\begin{cases} x^* = \frac{\Lambda}{\beta y^* + \mu}, \\ z^* = \frac{\kappa y^*}{Q_0 Q_2}, \\ w^* = \frac{\sigma \kappa y^* + \xi Q_0 Q_2 y^*}{\mu Q_0 Q_2}. \end{cases}$$

and y^* is solution of the second order equation

$$Ay^{*2} + By^* + C = 0,$$



Figure 3.3: a) Phase portrait and b) Time evolutions of system (3.17) for some values of α , with the parameter values $\omega = 1$, $\beta = 2$, $\mu = 1$, $\gamma = 1$, $\rho = 4$ and $\delta = 3$

where

$$A = \beta \omega Q_1 Q_2,$$

$$B = (\beta + \mu \omega) Q_1 Q_2 + \kappa \beta (Q_2 - \rho) - \beta \Lambda,$$

$$C = [\mu Q_1 Q_2 + \kappa \mu (Q_2 - \rho)](1 - R_0).$$

And

$$Q_0 = 1 + \omega y^*,$$

$$Q_1 = \mu + \delta_1 + \xi,$$

$$Q_2 = \rho + \sigma + \delta_2 + \mu,$$

$$R_0 = \frac{\kappa \beta Q_2}{\mu Q_1 Q_2 + \kappa \mu (Q_2 - \rho)}.$$

The characteristic polynomial of the Jacobian matrix of (3.18) at E is

$$P_E(\lambda) = (\lambda + \mu)^2 (\lambda^2 + p_1 \lambda + p_2).$$

Where

$$\begin{cases} p_1 = Q_1 + Q_2 + \kappa - \frac{\beta \Lambda}{\mu}, \\ p_2 = Q_2(Q_1 + \kappa - \frac{\beta \Lambda}{\mu}) - \kappa \rho. \end{cases}$$

The characteristic polynomial of the Jacobian matrix of (3.18) at E^* is

$$P_{E^*}(\lambda) = \lambda^4 + a_1\lambda^3 + a_2\lambda^2 + a_3\lambda + a_4.$$

Where

$$a_{1} = \mu + I_{1} + I_{2},$$

$$a_{2} = I_{1}I_{2} + I_{3} - I_{4} + \mu(I_{1} + I_{2}),$$

$$a_{3} = I_{1}I_{3} - Q_{2}I_{4} + \mu(I_{1}I_{2} + I_{3} - I_{4}),$$

$$a_{4} = \mu(I_{1}I_{3} - Q_{2}I_{4}),$$

and

$$\begin{cases} I_1 = \beta y^* + \mu, \\ I_2 = Q_1 + Q_2 + \frac{\kappa}{Q_0^2} - \beta x^*, \\ I_3 = Q_2(Q_1 + \frac{\kappa}{Q_0^2} - \beta x^*) - \frac{\kappa \rho}{Q_0^2}, \\ I_4 = \beta^2 x^* y^*. \end{cases}$$

For example we use the following parameter values $\Lambda = 4.434486182758694$, $\kappa = 0.5$, $\beta = 0.001185$, $\omega = 0.1654$, $\sigma = 20$, $\mu = 0.0099909$, $\rho = 0.001$, $\delta_1 = 0.001$, $\delta_2 = 0.002$, $\xi = 0.002$,



Figure 3.4: **a)** Phase portrait and **b)** Time evolutions of system (3.18) for some values of α , with the parameter values $\Lambda = 4.434486182758694$, $\kappa = 0.5$, $\beta = 0.001185$, $\omega = 0.1654$, $\sigma = 20$, $\mu = 0.0099909$, $\rho = 0.001$, $\delta_1 = 0.001$, $\delta_2 = 0.002$, $\xi = 0.014999324798155$.

0.014999324798155. We have:

 $D(P_E) > 0$, $p_1 > 0$ and $p_2 > 0$, it means that all the roots of $P_E(\lambda) = 0$ are real negative, then E is locally asymptotically stable for all $\alpha \in [0,2)$.

 $D(P_{E^*}) < 0, a_i > 0$ for all i = 1, 2, 3, 4 and $a_2 = \frac{a_1 a_4}{a_3} - \frac{a_3}{a_1}$, then according to proposition (3.5) E^* is locally asymptotically stable for all $\alpha \in [0, 1[$ and unstable for all $\alpha \in [1, 2]$, Figure (3.4) illustrates these results, where we observe that for $\alpha \in [0, 1[$ all trajectory initiated near E^* converge to it but for $\alpha \in [1, 2]$ all trajectory initiated near E^* are repulsed by it and attracted by E which is locally asymptotically stable for all $\alpha \in [0, 2]$.

Remark 3.5 Assume that a 3-D integer-order system displays a chaotic attractor and suppose
that Ω is the set of equilibrium points surrounded by scrolls. A necessary condition for the corresponding fractional order system to exhibit a chaotic attractor similar to its integer order counterpart is instability of the equilibrium points in Ω . Otherwise, one of these equilibrium points becomes asymptotically stable and attracts the nearby trajectories [72, 73]. The proposed stability conditions are a powerful tool for determining regions of possible chaos (instability region) in the parameters space (including fractional order) where chaotic phenomenon can be developed. Different figures of the presented examples show variation of state evolution (from stationary to periodic and divergent) as value of fractional order α changes indicating possibility of chaos.

Chapter 4

Periodic Solutions of Fractional Order Systems

The existence of periodicity properties in fractional-order derivatives are one of the main issues in qualitative theory of differential equations. this subject has attracted the attention of many mathematicians, including (Tavazoei, Haeri, Yasdani, Belmekki, Kaslik, Wang, Abdelouahab) in [24, 25, 26, 74, 75, 76, 27].

4.1 Fractional order derivatives of periodic functions and periodic solutions

4.1.1 Fractional order derivatives of periodic functions

The following theorems reveals a remarkable property for the fractional derivatives defined based on Caputo definition, Grünwald-Letnikov definition, Riemann-Liouville definition [24].

Theorem 4.1 Suppose that f(t) is a non constant periodic function with period T. If f(t) is n-times differentiable, then the functions ${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t)$, where $0 < \alpha \notin N$ and n is the first integer greater than α , cannot be a periodic functions with period T. **Theorem 4.2** Suppose that f(t) is (n-1)-times continuously differentiable and $f^{(n)}(t)$ is bounded. If f(t) is a non-constant periodic function with period T, then the functions ${}_{a}^{GL}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t)$ and ${}_{a}^{RL}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t)$, where $0 < \alpha \notin N$ and n is the first integer greater than α , cannot be periodic functions with period T.

The demonstrations of these Theorems ((4.1), (4.2)) can be found in [24].

Example 4.1 Let $f(t) = \sin(t)$. We have

$$\sin(t) = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} (-1)^p \frac{t^{2p+1}}{(2p+1)!}.$$

So

$${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}\sin(t) = t^{1-\alpha}E_{2,2-\alpha}(-t^{2}).$$

Where $0 < \alpha < 1$ and $E_{\alpha,\beta}(t)$ is the generalized Mittag-Leffler function defined by

$$E_{\alpha,\beta}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^k}{\Gamma(\alpha k + \beta)}.$$

Numerical simulations show that $t^{1-\alpha}E_{2,2-\alpha}(-t^2)$ is not a periodic function where $0 < \alpha < 1$, even though for $\alpha = 1$ this function equals the periodic function $\cos(t)$.

4.1.2 Non existence of periodic solutions

From Theorems (4.1) and (4.2), we have the following corollary

Corollaire 4.1 A differential equation of fractional-order in the form

$$_{a} D_{t}^{\alpha} x(t) = f(x(t)),$$
(4.1)

where $0 < \alpha \notin \mathbb{N}$, cannot have any non-constant smooth periodic solution.

Proof Suppose $\tilde{x}(t)$ is a non-constant periodic solution with period T of (4.1), then

$$f(\tilde{x}(t)) = f(\tilde{x}(t+T)), \qquad (4.2)$$

for all $t \geq 0$.

From (4.1) and (4.2), it is deduced that ${}_{a} D_{t}^{\alpha} \tilde{x}(t) = {}_{a} D_{t}^{\alpha} \tilde{x}(t+T)$ for all $t \ge 0$.

But according to Theorems (4.1) and (4.2), this equality is impossible, So $\tilde{x}(t)$ cannot be a non-constant periodic solution.

4.1.3 Existence of periodic solutions

The existence of periodic solutions is the basic fact in this subsection. in [26] the authors has been proved the existence of periodic solutions in fractional-order systems under some circumstances.

Theorem 4.3 The fractional-order system

$$\begin{cases} {}^{c}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}x = f(x) \\ x(a) = x_{a} \end{cases};$$
(4.3)

does not have any periodic solution unless the lower terminal of the derivative is $\pm \infty$ ($a = \pm \infty$.)

Proof Suppose $\phi(t, x_a)$ is a non-constant periodic solution with period T of (4.3), then

$$f(\phi(t, x_a)) = x_a + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t - \tau)^{\alpha - 1} f(\phi(\tau, x_a)) d\tau, \qquad (4.4)$$

and

$$f(\phi(t+T, x_a)) = x_a + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{a}^{t+T} (t+T-\tau)^{\alpha-1} f(\phi(\tau, x_a)) d\tau,$$
(4.5)

 $\phi(t, x_a)$ is a periodic solution and since the system (4.3) is autonomous it mains that

$$f(\phi(\tau + T, x_a)) = f(\phi(\tau, x_a)).$$
 (4.6)

Putting $\tau^* = \tau - T$ and performing obvious substitutions of variables in (4.5), and by subtracting $\phi(t + T, x_a)$ from $\phi(t, x_a)$, we obtain

$$\phi(t, x_a) - \phi(t + T, x_a) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{a-T}^{a} (t - \tau)^{\alpha - 1} f(\phi(\tau, x_a)) d\tau = 0,$$
(4.7)

While $f(\phi(\tau, x_a)) \neq 0$, it can be concluded that the limits of integral are equal (ie a = a - T) But $T \neq 0$, then $a = \pm \infty$.

4.2 Fractional order derivative with fixed memory length

4.2.1 The Grünwald-Letnikov fractional order derivative with fixed memory length

We first recall the Grünwald-Letnikov fractional-order derivative with fixed memory length introduced in [27].

Definition 4.1 Let $\alpha \geq 0$, L > 0, n an integer such that $n - 1 \leq \alpha < n$ and f an integrable function in the interval [a - L, b]. The operator $\prod_{L}^{MG} D_t^{\alpha}$ defined by :

$${}^{^{MG}}_{{}^{L}}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h^{\alpha}} \sum_{k=0}^{\frac{L}{h}} (-1)^{k} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{k!\Gamma(\alpha-k+1)} f(t-kh), \quad t \in [a,b],$$
(4.8)

is called the Grünwald-Letnikov fractional derivative with fixed memory length.

The following proposition gives an evaluation of the limit in the definition of Grünwald-Letnikov fractional derivative with fixed memory length.

Proposition 4.1 Under the assumptions of definition 4.1. if the function f is n-differentiable with $f^{(n)} \in L_1[a - L, b]$, then

$${}^{^{MG}}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(t-L)L^{k-\alpha}}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{n-\alpha-1} f^{(n)}(\tau) d\tau.$$
(4.9)

It have been demonstrated that this modified fractional-order derivative posses two useful properties: the first is the preservation of periodicity and the second one is the short memory, which reduces considerably the cost of numerical computations. Furthermore they have proven that contrary to fractional autonomous systems in term of classical fractional derivative, the fractional autonomous systems in term of the modified fractional derivative can generate exact periodic solutions.

In the following subsections we introduce a similar modification of the Caputo fractional-order derivative and the Riemann-Liouville fractional-order derivative.

4.2.2 The Caputo and the Riemann-Liouville fractional order derivatives with fixed memory length

Definition 4.2 (The Caputo fractional derivative with fixed memory length) Let $\alpha > 0$, L > 0, n an integer such that $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil$ and $f \in C^n[a - L, b]$. We define the Caputo fractional derivative with fixed memory length by

$${}_{L}^{MC}D_{t}^{\alpha}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{n-\alpha-1} f^{(n)}(\tau) d\tau.$$
(4.10)

Definition 4.3 (The Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative with fixed memory length) Let $\alpha \ge 0$, L > 0, n an integer such that $n - 1 \le \alpha < n$ and f is a continuous function in [a - L, b], we define the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative with fixed memory length by:

$${}^{^{MRL}}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)}\frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}}\int_{t-L}^{t}(t-\tau)^{n-\alpha-1}f(\tau)d\tau,$$
(4.11)

Remark 4.1 From (4.9) and (4.10) we get

$${}^{MC}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = {}^{MG}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(t-L)L^{k-\alpha}}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)}.$$
(4.12)

Proposition 4.2 Under the assumption that the function f(t) is n-times continuously differentiable, we get

$${}^{^{MRL}}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = {}^{^{MG}}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1}\frac{f^{(k)}(t-L)L^{k-\alpha}}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)}.$$
(4.13)

Proof By differentiation and performing repeatedly integration by parts, we get

$${}^{^{MRL}}_{\ \ L} D^{\alpha}_{t} f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{n-\alpha-1} f(\tau) d\tau,$$

$$= -\frac{f^{(n-1)L^{n-\alpha-1}}(t-L)}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha-1)} \frac{d^{n-1}}{dt^{n-1}} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{n-\alpha-2} f(\tau) d\tau,$$

$$\vdots$$

$$= -\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(t-L)L^{k-\alpha}}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(-\alpha)} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{-\alpha-1} f(\tau) d\tau,$$

we pot $I = \frac{1}{\Gamma(-\alpha)} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{-\alpha-1} f(\tau) d\tau$, performing a successive integration by part we obtain

$$\begin{split} I &= \frac{f(t-L)L^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{-\alpha} f'(\tau) d\tau, \\ &= \frac{f(t-L)L^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} + \frac{f'(t-L)L^{1-\alpha}}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{-\alpha+1} f^{(2)}(\tau) d\tau, \\ &\vdots \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(t-L)L^{k-\alpha}}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{-\alpha+n-1} f^{(n)}(\tau) d\tau, \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{MG} D_{t}^{\alpha} f(t). \end{split}$$

Thus

$${}^{^{MRL}}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = {}^{^{MG}}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1}\frac{f^{(k)}(t-L)L^{k-\alpha}}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)}.$$

Remark 4.2 From (4.12) and (4.13) we have

$${}^{^{MRL}}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = {}^{^{MC}}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = {}^{^{MG}}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1}\frac{f^{(k)}(t-L)L^{k-\alpha}}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)}.$$
(4.14)

In the following parts, we denote the operators of Caputo and Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative with fixed memory length by $^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}$.

4.3 Fractional order derivative with fixed memory length of some functions

In this section, we give the fractional derivatives with fixed memory length of some basic functions periodic functions. The comparison between previous results of fractional order derivatives with fixed memory length and classical fractional-order derivatives are proposed in the second subsection

4.3.1 Fractional derivative of some elementary functions

In the following, we give the fractional derivative with fixed memory length of two elementary functions (the power function and the exponential function).

Fractional derivative of the power function

Let $f(t) = t^m$, $m \in N^*$, $\alpha > 0$, L > 0 and n is an integer such that $n - 1 < \alpha < n$.

If m < n, then $f^{(n)}(t) = 0$, substituting in (4.10) yields ${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}(t^{m}) = 0$.

If $m \ge n$ then by repeated integration by parts of the relation (4.10) we obtain

$${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}(t^{m}) = \sum_{k=0}^{m-n} \frac{m!L^{-\alpha+n+k}(t-L)^{m-n-k}}{(m-n-k)!\Gamma(-\alpha+n+k+1)}.$$
(4.15)

Remark 4.3 (Fractional derivative of a constant function)

If f is a constant function (i.e. f(t) = C for all $t \in [a - L, b]$, and C any constant including zero) then we have

$${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}C = 0$$

Fractional derivative of the exponential function

Let $f(t) = e^t = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^p}{p!}$, $\alpha > 0$, L > 0 and n is an integer such that $n - 1 < \alpha < n$. We have;

$${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}e^{t} = {}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}\sum_{p=0}^{\infty}\frac{t^{p}}{p!} = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty}\frac{1}{p!} {}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}t^{p}.$$

From (4.15), we find that

$$\begin{split} {}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}(e^{t}) &= \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{p-n} \frac{L^{-\alpha+n+k}(t-L)^{p-n-k}}{(p-n-k)!\Gamma(-\alpha+n+1+k)}, \\ &= \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{p-n} \frac{L^{-\alpha+n+k}(t-L)^{p-n-k}}{(p-n-k)!\Gamma(k-\alpha+n+1)}, \\ &= \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{p} \frac{L^{-\alpha+n+k}(t-L)^{p-k}}{(p-k)!\Gamma(k-\alpha+n+1)}, \\ &= \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \frac{L^{-\alpha+n}(t-L)^{p}}{p!\Gamma(-\alpha+n+1)} + \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \frac{L^{-\alpha+n+1}(t-L)^{p}}{p!\Gamma(-\alpha+n+2)} + \dots, \\ &= \left(\sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \frac{(t-L)^{p}}{p!\Gamma(-\alpha+n+1)}\right) \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{L^{-\alpha+n+k}}{\Gamma(-\alpha+n+1+k)}\right), \\ &= e^{t-L}L^{-\alpha+n} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{L^{k}}{\Gamma(-\alpha+n+1+k)}, \\ &= e^{t-L}L^{n-\alpha}E_{1,n+1-\alpha}(L). \end{split}$$

4.3.2 Fractional derivative of a periodic functions

The main result of this paper is stated in the following theorem.

Theorem 4.4 Let $\alpha > 0$, L > 0 and n an integer such that $n - 1 < \alpha < n$ and $f \in C^n[a - L, b]$. If f is a periodic function with period T. Then ${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f$ is a periodic function with the same period T.

Proof If f is a periodic function with period T, then

$${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t+T}f(t+T) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{t+T-L}^{t+T} (t+T-\tau)^{n-\alpha-1} f^{(n)}(\tau+T) d\tau,$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-s)^{n-\alpha-1} f^{(n)}(s+2T) ds,$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-s)^{n-\alpha-1} f^{(n)}(s) ds,$$

$$= {}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t).$$

So, ${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f$ is a periodic function with the same period T.

Fractional derivative of some fundamental periodic functions

We first recall that the functions ${}^{MG}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}\sin(t)$ and ${}^{MG}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}\cos(t)$ had been calculated in [27].

$${}^{MG}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}\sin(t) = L^{-\alpha}E_{2,1-\alpha}(-L^{2})\sin(t-L) + L^{1-\alpha}E_{2,2-\alpha}(-L^{2})\cos(t-L),$$

and

$${}_{L}^{MG}D_{t}^{\alpha}\cos(t) = L^{-\alpha}E_{2,1-\alpha}(-L^{2})\cos(t-L) - L^{1-\alpha}E_{2,2-\alpha}(-L^{2})\sin(t-L).$$

Example 4.2 (Fractional derivative with fixed memory length of the sine function)

We have

$${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = {}^{MG}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{f^{(k)}(t-L)L^{k-\alpha}}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)}.$$

Thus

$${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}\sin(t) = {}^{MG}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}\sin(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{\frac{d^{k}}{dt^{k}}(\sin(t-L))L^{k-\alpha}}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)},$$

$$= L^{-\alpha}\sin(t-L)E_{2,1-\alpha}(-L^{2}) + L^{1-\alpha}\cos(t-L)E_{2,2-\alpha}(-L^{2})$$

$$- L^{\alpha}\sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^{2})^{k}}{\Gamma(2k+1-\alpha)}\sin(t-L) - L^{1-\alpha}\sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n-1}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^{2})^{k}}{\Gamma(2k+2-\alpha)}\cos(t-L),$$

$$= L^{-\alpha}\sin(t-L)(E_{2,1-\alpha}(-L^{2}) - \sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^{2})^{k}}{\Gamma(2k+1-\alpha)})$$

$$+ L^{1-\alpha}\cos(t-L)(E_{2,2-\alpha}(-L^{2}) - \sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n-1}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^{2})^{k}}{\Gamma(2k+2-\alpha)}),$$

$$= a\sin(t-L) + b\cos(t-L).$$
(4.16)

Where, $a = E_{2,1-\alpha}(-L^2) - \sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^2)^k}{\Gamma(2k+1-\alpha)}, \quad b = E_{2,2-\alpha}(-L^2) - \sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n-1}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^2)^k}{\Gamma(2k+2-\alpha)}.$ We observe that, ${}^M_L D_t^{\alpha} \sin(t)$ is a periodic function with the period $T = 2\pi$. This analytical result is depicted in figure (4.1), for some value of α and L = 32.1.

Example 4.3 (Fractional derivative of cosine function)



Figure 4.1: Fractional derivative of the Sine function for L = 32.1 and some value of α .

We have

$${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}\cos(t) = {}^{MG}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}\cos(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{\frac{d^{k}}{dt^{k}}(\cos(t-L))L^{k-\alpha}}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)},$$

$$= L^{-\alpha}\cos(t-L)E_{2,1-\alpha}(-L^{2}) - L^{1-\alpha}\sin(t-L)E_{2,2-\alpha}(-L^{2})$$

$$- L^{\alpha}\sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^{2})^{k}}{\Gamma(2k+1-\alpha)}\cos(t-L) + L^{1-\alpha}\sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n-1}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^{2})^{k}}{\Gamma(2k+2-\alpha)}\sin(t-L),$$

$$= L^{-\alpha}\cos(t-L)(E_{2,1-\alpha}(-L^{2}) - \sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^{2})^{k}}{\Gamma(2k+1-\alpha)})$$

$$- L^{1-\alpha}\sin(t-L)(E_{2,2-\alpha}(-L^{2}) - \sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n-1}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^{2})^{k}}{\Gamma(2k+2-\alpha)}),$$

$$= a\cos(t-L) - b\sin(t-L).$$
(4.17)

Where, $a = E_{2,1-\alpha}(-L^2) - \sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^2)^k}{\Gamma(2k+1-\alpha)}$, and $b = E_{2,2-\alpha}(-L^2) - \sum_{k=0}^{\left[\frac{n-1}{2}\right]} \frac{(-L^2)^k}{\Gamma(2k+2-\alpha)}$. Clearly, $\sum_{k=0}^{M} \frac{M}{L} D_t^{\alpha} \cos(t)$ is a periodic function with the period $T = 2\pi$.

4.4 An interpolation property

It is known that the operator of Grünwald-Letnikov fractional derivative with fixed memory length is an extension of the integer-order operator $\frac{d^n}{t^n}$, (see [27]).

The following proposition proves that the Caputo and Riemman-Lioville operators of fractional derivative with fixed memory length, verified this property for $\alpha \to n$, but not for $\alpha \to n - 1$.

Proposition 4.3 Let L > 0 and $0 \le n - 1 < \alpha < n$ such that n is an integer number, and let f(t) has (n + 1) continuous bounded derivatives in [a - L, b]. Then, for all $t \in [a, b]$, we have

$$\lim_{\alpha \to n} {}^{M}_{L} D^{\alpha}_{t} f(t) = f^{(n)}(t),$$

and

$$\lim_{\alpha \to n-1} {}^{M}_{L} D_t^{\alpha} f(t) = f^{(n-1)}(t) - f^{(n-1)}(t-L).$$

Proof We have

$$\lim_{\alpha \to n} {}^{M}_{L} D^{\alpha}_{t} f(t) = \lim_{\alpha \to n} \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{n-\alpha-1} f^{(n)}(\tau) d\tau,$$

$$= \lim_{\alpha \to n} \frac{L^{n-\alpha} f^{(n)}(t-L)}{\Gamma(n-\alpha+1)} + \lim_{\alpha \to n} \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha+1)}$$

$$\int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{n-\alpha} f^{(n+1)}(\tau) d\tau,$$

$$= f^{(n)}(t-L) + \int_{t-L}^{t} f^{(n+1)}(\tau) d\tau,$$

$$= f^{(n)}(t).$$

For $\alpha \to n-1$, we have

$$\lim_{\alpha \to n-1} \int_{L}^{MC} D_{t}^{\alpha} f(t) = \lim_{\alpha \to n-1} \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{t-L}^{t} (t-\tau)^{n-\alpha-1} f^{(n)}(\tau) d\tau,$$
$$= \int_{t-L}^{t} f^{(n)}(\tau) d\tau,$$
$$= f^{(n-1)}(t) - f^{(n-1)}(t-L).$$

Example 4.4 Let $f(t) = e^t$, we have

$${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}e^{t} = e^{t-L}L^{n-\alpha}E_{1,n+1-\alpha}(L),$$

Thus,

$$\lim_{\alpha \to n} {}^{M}_{L} D_t^{\alpha} e^t = e^{t-L} E_{1,1}(L) = e^t = f^{(n)}(t).$$

However

$$\lim_{\alpha \to n-1} {}^{M}_{L} D_{t}^{\alpha} e^{t} = e^{t-L} L E_{1,2}(L) = e^{t-L} (e^{L} - 1),$$
$$= e^{t} - e^{t-L} = f^{(n)}(t) - f^{(n-1)}(t-L).$$

Example 4.5 Let $f(t) = t^m$, we have

$${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}(t^{m}) = \sum_{k=0}^{m-n} \frac{m!L^{-\alpha+n+k}(t-L)^{m-n-k}}{(m-n-k)!\Gamma(-\alpha+n+k+1)}.$$

Putting N = m - n and t - L = a, then

$$\lim_{\alpha \to n} {}^{M}_{L} D^{\alpha}_{t}(t^{m}) = \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{m! L^{k} a^{N-k}}{(N-k)! k!},$$
$$= \frac{m!}{N!} \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{N! L^{k} a^{N-k}}{(N-k)! k!},$$
$$= \frac{m!}{N!} (a+L)^{N} = \frac{m!}{(m-n)!} t^{m-n},$$
$$= \frac{d^{n}}{dt} t^{m} = f^{(n)}(t).$$

However

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\alpha \to n-1} \ ^{M}_{L} D_{t}^{\alpha}(t^{m}) &= \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{m! L^{k+1} a^{N-k}}{(N-k)! (k+1)!}, \\ &= \frac{m!}{(N+1)!} \sum_{k=0}^{N+1} \frac{(N+1)! L^{k} a^{N+1-k}}{(N+1-k)! k!} - \frac{m!}{(m-n+1)!} (t-L)^{m-n+1}, \\ &= \frac{m!}{(N+1)!} t^{N+1} - \frac{m!}{(m-(n-1))!} (t-L)^{m-(n-1)}, \\ &= \frac{m!}{(m-(n-1))!} t^{m-(n-1)} - \frac{m!}{(m-(n-1))!} (t-L)^{m-(n-1)}, \\ &= \frac{d^{n-1}}{dt} t^{m} - \frac{d^{n-1}}{dt} (t-L)^{m} = f^{(n-1)}(t) - f^{(n-1)}(t-L). \end{split}$$

Classical fractional derivative	Fractional derivative with fixed
${}^C_a D^lpha_t$ or ${}^{RL}_a D^lpha_t$	memory length ${}^{M}_{L}D^{lpha}_{t}$
${}^{C}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) = {}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}f(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{m-1}\frac{f^{(k)}(a)(t-a)^{k-\alpha}}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)}$	${}^{\scriptscriptstyle MC}_{\ \ L}D^{\alpha}_tf(t)={}^{\scriptscriptstyle MR}_{\ \ L}D^{\alpha}_tf(t)$
$\lim_{\alpha \to n} {}^{RL}_{a} D^{\alpha}_{t} f(t) = \lim_{\alpha \to n} {}^{C}_{a} D^{\alpha}_{t} f(t) = f^{(n)}(t)$	$\lim_{\alpha \to n} {}^{M}_{L} D^{\alpha}_{t} f(t) = f^{(n)}(t)$
$\lim_{\alpha \to n-1} \ {}^{RL}_{a} D^{\alpha}_{t} f(t) = f^{(n-1)}(t),$	$\lim_{\alpha \to n-1} \ {}^M_L D^{\alpha}_t f(t)$
$\lim_{\alpha \to n-1} {}^{C}_{a} D^{\alpha}_{t} f(t) = f^{(n-1)}(t) - f^{(n-1)}(a)$	$= f^{(n-1)}(t) - f^{(n-1)}(t-L)$
${}^{RL}_{0}D^{\alpha}_{t}(t^{m}) = {}^{C}_{0}D^{\alpha}_{t}(t^{m}) = \frac{\Gamma(m+1)}{\Gamma(m-\alpha+1)}t^{m-\alpha}$	${}^{M}_{L}D^{\alpha}_{t}(t^{m}) = \sum_{k=0}^{m-n} \frac{m!L^{-\alpha+n+k}(t-L)^{m-n-k}}{(m-n-k)!\Gamma(-\alpha+n+k+1)}$
${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}C = \frac{C}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}(t-a)^{\alpha} \neq 0,$	
$^{C}_{\ a}D^{\alpha}_{t}C=0$	$^{M}_{\ L}D^{\alpha}_{t}C=0$
${}^{RL}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}\sin t = t^{1-\alpha}E_{2,2-\alpha}(-t^{2})$	${}^{M}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}\sin t = a\sin(t-L) + b\cos(t-L).$

Table 4.1: Comparison between some results of classical fractional-order derivatives and fractional order derivatives with fixed memory length.

4.5 Comparison between some results of classical fractionalorder derivatives and fractional order derivatives with fixed memory length

The previous results are summarized in the following table, for comparison purpose between classical fractional-order derivative and fractional-order derivative with fixed memory length.

4.6 Fractional-order autonomous systems with exact periodic solution

As previously mentioned any autonomous fractional-order system expressed in terms of classical fractional derivatives cannot have any exact periodic solutions [24, 25]. Now we present some examples (linear and non-linear) showing that fractional-order autonomous systems expressed in terms of fractional derivatives with fixed memory length can have exact periodic solutions.

4.6.1 Linear fractional-order autonomous system with exact periodic solution

Let consider the following linear fractional-order autonomous system

$${}^{M}_{2\pi}D^{\alpha}_{t}X(t) = AX(t),$$
(4.18)

where $X(t) \in R^2$ and $A = \begin{pmatrix} a & -b \\ b & a \end{pmatrix}$, with $a = E_{2,1-\alpha}(-L^2) - \sum_{k=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \right\rfloor} \frac{(-L^2)^k}{\Gamma(2k+1-\alpha)}$, $b = E_{2,2-\alpha}(-L^2) - \sum_{k=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{n-1}{2} \right\rfloor} \frac{(-L^2)^k}{\Gamma(2k+2-\alpha)}$. The vector function $X(t) = c \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) \\ \sin(t) \end{pmatrix}$, $c \in R$ is an exact 2π -periodic solution for the system (4.18).

Namely, we have
$$\frac{M}{2\pi}D_t^{\alpha}X(t) = c \begin{pmatrix} \frac{M}{2\pi}D_t^{\alpha}\cos(t)\\ \frac{M}{2\pi}D_t^{\alpha}\sin(t) \end{pmatrix}$$
. Then, from (4.16) and (4.17) we obtain
 $\frac{M}{2\pi}D_t^{\alpha}X(t) = c \begin{pmatrix} a\cos(t-2\pi) - b\sin(t-2\pi)\\ a\sin(t-2\pi) + b\cos(t-2\pi) \end{pmatrix}$,
 $= c \begin{pmatrix} a & -b\\ b & a \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t-2\pi)\\ \sin(t-2\pi) \end{pmatrix}$,
 $= cA \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t-2\pi)\\ \sin(t-2\pi) \end{pmatrix}$,
 $= AX(t)$.

Thus, $X(t) = c \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) \\ \sin(t) \end{pmatrix}$ is an exact 2π -periodic solution of (4.18).

4.6.2 The predator-prey model with Holling type II response function

All population species posses the property of heredity which means the passing on of traits from parents to their offspring, either through asexual reproduction or sexual reproduction, the offspring cells or organisms acquire the genetic information of their parents, through heredity. This property makes fractional differential systems may model more efficiently certain problems than ordinary differential ones. Motivated by this fact, we recall the fractional version of the Holling-Tanner model (3.16) [67] as follow

$$\begin{cases} D^{\alpha}x = r_1 x (1 - \frac{x}{K}) - \frac{qxy}{m+x}, \\ D^{\alpha}y = r_2 y (1 - \frac{y}{\gamma x}). \end{cases}$$
(4.19)

Where D^{\cdot} denotes a standard fractional-order derivative operator and $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ is the fractional order related to the hereditary property of the population (a value of α close to an integer number mean that the population has a weak hereditary property).

Since exact analytical resolution of this nonlinear system is unavailable, we resort to qualitative and numerical study, for this purpose the parameters are set to $r_1 = 1$, $r_2 = 0.2$, K = 25, $q = \frac{6}{7}$, m = 1 and $\gamma = 0.95$, the system (4.19) has two equilibrium points $E_0 = (25, 0)$ and $E_1 \approx (7.1429, 6.7857)$.

- The characteristic polynomial of the Jacobian matrix evaluated at E_0 is given by $P(\lambda) = \lambda^2 + 0.8\lambda 0.2$. So $a_2 = -0.2 < 0$, then according to Proposition (3.2) E_0 is unstable for all $\alpha \in [0, 2)$.
- The characteristic polynomial of the Jacobian matrix evaluated at E_1 is given by $P(\lambda) = \lambda^2 0.1409\lambda + 0.0747$. So $a_1 \approx -0.1409$ and $a_2 \approx 0.0747 > 0$.

Applying Hopf-Like Bifurcation theory [70, 22] and using Proposition (3.2), we obtain the Hopf-Like bifurcation value $\alpha^* = \frac{2}{\pi} \cos^{-1}(\frac{-a_1}{2\sqrt{a_2}}) \approx 0.8341$, at which the fixed point E_1 losses its stability and a periodic motion (*S*-asymptotically periodic for the classical fractional derivative and exact periodic for fractional derivative with fixed memory length) appears.

To illustrate these results we solve numerically the system (4.19) by developing a Matlab code using a discretization technique based on the formula (4.14).

Choosing a value for α greater then α^* , for example $\alpha = 0.9$, then we compare between the solution of (4.19) in term of classical fractional operator and its solution in term of fractional operator with fixed memory length L = 30. The two trajectories are started from the same initial point $X_0 = (2.64, 4.88)$, predicted at the attracting limit cycle. The results are shown in Figure 4.2.

An S-asymptotically T-periodic solution with $T \approx 27.2$ is obtained for classical fractional operator as shown in Figure 4.2(a,b); and an exact T-periodic solution is obtained for the fractional derivative operator with fixed memory length as shown in Figure 4.2(c,d).

4.6.3 Fractional-order memristor-based circuit

A simplest memristor-based electrical circuit which posses a rich dynamical behavior (ranged from stationary and periodic behavior to chaotic behavior with a double scroll and four-scroll chaotic attractor) has been introduced in [21] and its fractional version has been also given and



Figure 4.2: Time evolution and phase portrait of system (4.19) for $\alpha = 0.9$ (a,b) S-asymptotically T-periodic solution with $T \approx 27.2$ for classical fractional operator. (c,d) Exact T-periodic solution for the fractional derivative operator with fixed memory length. (e) Comparison between the two solutions.

analysed based on fractional-order linear capacitor and fractional-order inductor models proposed in [77, 78]. The dynamic of this fractional circuit is described by the mathematical model

$$\begin{cases} D^{\alpha_1} x = y, \\ D^{\alpha_2} y = -(x + (\gamma z^2 - \beta)y)/3, \\ D^{\alpha_3} z = -y - 0.9z + y^2 z. \end{cases}$$
(4.20)

As in the previews example we adopt qualitative and numerical study. for this purpose the parameters are set to $\gamma = 0.1$, $\beta = 3.3$ and $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha$.

The model has only one fixed point E = (0, 0, 0). Applying Hopf-Like Bifurcation criterion we obtain the Hopf-Like bifurcation value $\alpha^* = 0.1967$ [21], at which the fixed point E losses its stability and a periodic motion appears.

To illustrate these results we solve numerically the system (4.20). In order to localize the periodic interval we plot the bifurcation diagram of y versus the fractional order α in Figure 4.3; clearly we have a periodic motion for $\alpha \in]0.1967, 0.8216[$ which is agree with the obtained Hopf-Like Bifurcation value.

Now we choose a value for α in the periodic interval for example $\alpha = 0.5$, then we compare between the solution of (4.20) in term of classical fractional operator and its solution in term of fractional operator with fixed memory length L = 80. The two trajectories are started from the same initial point $X_0 = (1.39, 0.923, -3.62)$, predicted at the attracting limit cycle. The results are shown in Figure 4.4.

An S-asymptotically T-periodic solution with $T \approx 19.5$ is obtained for classical fractional operator as shown in Figure 4.4(a,b); and an exact T-periodic solution is obtained for the fractional derivative operator with fixed memory length as shown in Figure 4.4(c,d).



Figure 4.3: Bifurcation diagram of the state y versus the fractional-order α for $\beta = 3.3$.



Figure 4.4: Time evolution and phase portrait of system (4.20) for $\alpha = 0.5$ and $\beta = 3.3$. (a,b) S-asymptotically T-periodic solution with $T \approx 19.5$ for classical fractional operator. (c,d) Exact T-periodic solution for the fractional derivative operator with fixed memory length.

General Conclusion

In this thesis, we study the basic subjects in theory of fractional-order derivatives. We see that fractional-order derivatives are generalization of integer-order derivatives, moreover, we try to extend some optimal Routh-Hurwitz conditions to fractional systems of order $\alpha \in [0,2)$ in order to facilitate and shorten the time to study stability of fractional-order systems, also we try to solve the problem of absence of periodic solutions in fractional-order systems. These two important topics are essential in the study of Bifurcations and Chaos in fractional-order systems. So, we have devoted the first part (chapter (1) and (2)) of this thesis to display the most famous definitions of fractional-order derivatives with the most important subjects such as stability, Bifurcations and Chaos theories. In the second part (chapter (3) and (4)) we have presented our works to the fractional calculus space. In the first paper we exposed our contributions in the stability theory of fractional-order system, we have derived some new optimal (non-improvable) Routh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional type models of orders between 0 and 2., i.e., some necessary and sufficient conditions guaranteeing that all zeros of the corresponding characteristic polynomial are located inside the Matignon stability sector. The effect of parameter α on the model dynamics has been highlighted. These results can be regarded as a generalization of the classical Routh-Hurwitz stability conditions. As application, the stability properties of some fractional-order mathematical models in population dynamics and epidemiology have been explored. Numerical simulations are provided to exemplify the theoretical findings. The second work deal with a modification of the Caputo and Rieman-Liouville fractional-order derivatives by fixing the memory length and varying the lower terminal of the derivative. It is shown that the modified fractional derivative operator preserves the periodicity. As a consequence periodic solutions can be expected in fractional-order systems expressed in term of the new operator. To confirm this assertion three examples have been investigated, one linear system for which an analytic expression of an exact periodic solution is given and two nonlinear systems for which exact periodic solutions are provided using qualitative and numerical methods.

Bibliography

- G.W. Leibniz Letter from Hanover, Germany to G.F.A. L'Hospital, September 30, 1695, in Mathematische Schriften 1849, reprinted 1962, Hildesheim, Germany(Olns Verlag), 2:301-302, 1695a.
- [2] K.B. Oldham and J. Spanier. The Fractional Calculus Theory and Applications of Differentiation and Integration to Arbitrary Order. Academic press, inc, USA, 1974.
- [3] K.S. Miller and B. Ross. An introduction to the fractional calculus and fractional differential equations. John wiley and Dons, New York, NY, USA, 1993.
- [4] B.Ross. The development of fractional calculus 1695-1900. Hist, Math,4(1):5-89, 1977. https://doi.org/10.1016/0315-0860(77)90039-8
- [5] R.L. Bagley and R.A. Calico. Fractional order state equations for the control of viscoelastically damped structures. J. Guid. Control Dyn. 14:304-311, 1991. https://doi.org/10.2514/6.1989-1213
- [6] H.H. Sun, A.A. Abdelwahab and B. Onaral. Linear approximation of transfer function with a pole of fractional order. IEEE Trans, Autom, Control, 29(5):441-444, 1984. https://doi.org/10.1109/TAC.1984.1103551
- M. Ichise, Y. Nagayanagi and T. Kojima. An analog simulation of noninteger order transfer functions for analysis of electrode process. J. Electroanal, Chem, 33(2):253-265, 1971. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0728(71)80115-8

- [8] O. Heaviside. Electromagnetic Theory. Chelsea, New York, 1971.
- S. Steven, M. Friedman, A.J. Mallinckrodt and S. McKay. Nonlinear Dynamics And Chaos: With Applications To Physics, Biology, Chemistry And Engineering. Computers in Physics 8(5):532, 1994. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4823332
- [10] D. Kusnezov, A. Bulgac, and G.D. Dang. Quantum levy processes and fractional kinetics. Phys, Rev, Lett. 82(6):1136-1139, 1999. https://doi.org/10.1103/physrevlett.82.1136
- [11] R. Roy, T.W. Murphy Jr, T.D. Maier, Z. Gills and E.R. Hunt. Dynamical control of a chaotic laser : Experimental stabilization of a globally coupled system. Physical Review Letters 68(9):1259–1262, 1992. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.68.1259
- [12] A. Garfinkel, J.N. Weiss, W.L. Ditto and M.L.Spano. Chaos control of cardiac arrhythmias.Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine 5(2):76–80, 1995. https://doi.org/10.1016/1050-1738(94)00083-2
- [13] V. Petrov. V. J. Masere Κ. Showalter. Controlling Gaspar. and chaos Belousov—Zhabotinsky reaction. 1993. in the Nature 361(6409):240-243,https://doi.org/10.1038/361240a0
- [14] J. Ding and H.X. Yao. Chaos control of a kind of non-linear finance system. Journal of Jiangsu University (Natural Science Edition) 25(6):500–504, 2004.
- [15] S.G. Samko, A.A. Kilbas and O.I. Marichev. Fractional integrals and derivatives :theory and applications. Gordon and Breach, 1993.
- T.T. Hartley, C.F. Lorenzo and H.K. Qammer. Chaos in a fractional order Chua's system. IEEE Trans, Circuits Syst, I,42(8):485-490, 1995. https://doi.org/10.1109/81.404062
- [17] C. Li and G. Chen. Chaos in the fractional order Chen system and its control. Chaos Solit.
 Fract, 22(3):549-554, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chaos.2004.02.035
- [18] C. Li and G. Chen. Chaos in the fractional-order Rössler equations. Physica A, Stat.Mech, Appl, 341:55-61, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physa.2004.04.113

- [19] C. Li and G. Peng. Chaos in Chen system with a fractional order. Chaos Solit. Fract, 22(2):430-450, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chaos.2004.02.013
- [20] M.S. Abdelouahab and R. Lozi. Hopf-like bifurcation and mixed mode oscillation in a fractional-order FitzHugh-Nagumo model. AIP Conference Proceedings, 2183:100003, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5136214.
- [21] M.S. Abdelouahab and R. Lozi. Hopf Bifurcation and Chaos in Simplest Fractional-Order Memristor-based Electrical Circuit. Ind. Indian. J. Ind. Appl. Math, 6(2):105-119, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13662-020-03114-w
- [22] M.S. Abdelouahab, N. Hamri and J.W. Wang. Hopf bifurcation and chaos in fractional-order modified hybrid optical system. Nonlinear Dyn,69:275-284, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11071-011-0263-4
- [23] S. Bourafa, M.S. Abdelouahab and A. Moussaoui. On some extended Routh-Hurwitz conditions for fractional-order autonomous systems of order α ∈ [0, 2) and their applications to some population dynamic models. Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 133, 109623, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chaos.2020.109623
- [24] M.S. Tavazoei. A note on fractional-order derivatives of periodic functions. Automatica, 46((5)):945-948, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.automatica.2010.02.023
- [25] M.S. Tavazoei and M. Haeri. A proof for non existence of periodic solutions in time invariant fractional order systems, Automatica, 45(8):1886-1890, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.automatica.2009.04.001
- Η. [26] M. Yazdani and Salarieh. On the existence of periodic solutions in fractional 46(8):945-948,time-invariant order systems. Automatica, 2010.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.automatica.2011.04.013
- [27] M.S. Abdelouahab and N. Hamri. The Grünwald-Letnikov fractional-order derivative with fixed memory length. Mediterr. J. Math, 13:557-572, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00009-015-0525-3

- [28] M.S. Abdelouahab and S. Bourafa. On the existence of periodic solutions for differential systems in term of fractional-order derivative with fixed memory length. Workshop, SDEDA-2018, Oum El Bouaghi-Algeria, 14-15 November, 2018.
- [29] I. Podlubny. Fractional Differential Equations. Academic Press, San Diego, 1999.
- [30] A. Kilbas, H. Srivastava and J. Trujillo. Theory and applications of Fractional Differential Equations. North-Holland, Math. Studies 204, 2006.
- [31] K. Diethelm. The Analysis of Fractional Differential Equations. SpringerVerlag Berlin, Heidelberg, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-14574-2
- [32] M. Weilbeer. Efficient Numerical Methods for Fractional Differential Equations and their Analytical Background. PhD thesis, Carl-Friderich-Gauss Facultat fur Mathematik und Informatik, der Technischen Universitat Braunschweig, 2005.
- [33] Z. M. Odibat. Analytic study on linear systems of fractional differential equations. Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 59(3):1171–1183, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.camwa.2009.06.035
- [34] K. Diethelm and A.D. Freed. The fracPECE subroutine for the numerical solution of differential equations of fractional order. Heinzel S, Plesser T, 57–71, 1999.
- М. [35] M. S. Tavazoei and Haeri. A note on $_{\mathrm{the}}$ stability of fractional order systems. Mathematics and Computers in Simulation, 79(5):1566-1576, 2009.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matcom.2008.07.003
- [36] D. Matignon. Stability results for fractional differential equations with applications to control processing. inProceedings of the IMACS-SMC, 2:963–968, 1996.
- [37] M. Moze, J. Sabatier and A. Oustaloup. LMI characterization of fractional systems stability. In J. Sabatier, O. P. Agrawal and J. A. Tenreiro Machado (Eds.). Advances in Fractional Calculus. Dordrecht: Springer, 419–434, 2007.

- [38] W. Deng, C. Li and J. Lü. Stability analysis of linear fractional differential system with multiple time delays. Nonlinear Dynamics, 48:409–416, 2007. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11071-006-9094-0
- [39] A. G. Radwan, A. M. Soliman, A. S. Elwakil and A. Sedeek. On the stability of linear systems with fractional-order elements. Chaos, Solitons and Fractals, 40(5):2317–2328, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chaos.2007.10.033
- [40] J. Sabatier, M. Moze and C. Farges. LMI stability conditions for fractional order systems. Computers and Mathematics with Applications, (5):1594–1609, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.camwa.2009.08.003
- [41] D. Matignon. Stability results in fractional differential equation with applications to control processing. In: Proceedings of the Multiconference on Computational Engineering in Systems and Application IMICS. IEEE-SMC, Lile, France, 2:963–968, 1996.
- [42] C. P. Li, Z. G. Zhao and Y.Q. Chen. Numerical approximation of nonlinear fractional differential equations with subdiffusion and Superdiffusion. Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 62(3):855-875, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.camwa.2011.02.045
- [43] F. Zhang and C. Li. Stability Analysis of Fractional Differential Systems with Order Lying in (1,2). Advances in Difference Equations, 2011:1-17, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/213485
- [44] C. Li and Y. Ma. Fractional dynamical system and its linearization theorem. Nonlinear Dyn, 71:621-633, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11071-012-0601-1
- [45] M.S. Tavazoei and M. Haeri. Chaotic attractors in incommensurate fractional order systems. Physica D, 237(20):2628–2637, 2008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physd.2008.03.037
- [46] J. E. Marsden and M. McCracken. The Hopf bifurcation and its applications. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1976.
- [47] R.L. Devaney. An introduction to chaotic dynamical systems. 1989.

- [48] T.S. Parker and L.O. Chua. Practical Numerical Algorithms for Chaotic Systems. Springerverlag, 1989.
- [49] V.I. Oseledets. Multiplicative ergodic theorem : Characteristic lyapunov exponents of dynamical systems. Trudy MMO, 19:179–210, 1968.
- [50] G. Benettin, L. Galgani, A. Giorgilli, and J.M. Strelcyn. Lyapunov characteristic exponents for smooth dynamical systems and for hamiltonian systems; a method for computing all of them. part 1: theory. Meccanica, 15:9–20, 1980.
- [51] A. Wolf, J.B. Swift, H.L. Swinney and J.A. Vastano. Determining lyapunov exponents from a time series. Physics D, 16(3):285-317, 1985. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-2789(85)90011-9
- [52] R. Brown, P. Bryant and H.D. Abarbanel. Computing the lyapunov spectrum of a dynamical system from an observed time series. Phys. Rev. A, 43(6):2787–2806, 1991. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA.43.2787
- [53] X. Zeng, R.A. Pielke and R. Eykholt. Extracting lyapunov exponents from short time series of low precision. Mod. Phys. Lett. B, 6(2):55–75, 1992. https://doi.org/10.1142/S0217984992000090
- [54] H.F.V. Bremen, F.E. Udwadia and W. Proskurowski. An efficient QR based method for the computation of lyapunov exponents. Physica D, 101(1-2):1–16, 1997. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-2789(96)00216-3
- [55] C. Li, Z. Gong, D. Qian and Y. Chen. On the bound of the Lyapunov exponents for the fractional differential systems. Chaos, 20(1):013127, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3314277
- [56] M.F. Danca and Ν. Kuznetsov. Matlab Code for Lyapunov Exponents of Fractional-Order J. Bifurc Chaos, 28(5):1850067,2018. Systems. Int. and https://doi.org/10.1142/S021812741850067028
- [57] G.A. Gottwald and I. Melbourne. A new test for chaos in deterministic systems. Proc. R. Soc. Lond.A 460(2042):603-611, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.2003.1183

- effective [58] D. Cafagna and G. Grassi. An method for detecting chaos in J. Bifurc 20(3):669-678,2010.fractional-order systems. Int. and Chaos, https://doi.org/10.1142/S0218127410025958
- [59] E. Ahmed, A.M.A. El-Sayed and H.A.A. El-Saka. Equilibrium points, stability and numerical solutions of fractional-order predator-prey and rabies models. J. Math. Anal. Appl, 325(1):542-553, 2007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmaa.2006.01.087
- [60] E. A.M.A. El-Saved and H.A.A. El-Saka. Routh-Hurwitz Ahmed, On some conditions for fractional order differential equations and their applications in Lorenz, Rössler, Chua and Chen systems. Phys. Lett. А, 358(1):1-4,2006.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physleta.2006.04.087
- [61] J. Cermak and L. Nechvatal. The Routh-Hurwitz conditions of fractional type in stability analysis of the Lorenz dynamical system. Nonlinear Dyn, 87(2):939-954, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11071-016-3090-9
- [62] A.E. Matouk. Stability conditions, hyperchaos and control in a novel fractional order hyperchaotic system. Phys. Lett. 373:2166-2173, 2009.А, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physleta.2009.04.032
- [63] M. Moze and J. Sabatier. LMI tools for stability analysis of fractional systems. In: Proceedings of ASME 2005 International Design Engineering Technical Conferences & Computers and Information in Engineering Conference, Long Beach, CA, 1611–1619, 24–28 Sep 2005. https://doi.org/10.1115/DETC2005-85182
- [64] J.D. Murray. Mathematical biology, Berlin, Springer, Verlag, 1993.
- [65] A.D. Bazykin. Nonlinear Dynamics of Interacting Populations, World Scientific, Singapore, 1998.
- [66] M.A. Menouer, A. Moussaoui and E.H. Ait Dads. Existence and global asymptotic stability of positive almost periodic solution for a predator-prey system in an artificial lake. Chaos, Solitons and Fractals, 103:271-278, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chaos.2017.06.014

- [67] J.T. Tanner. The stability and the intrinsic growth rates of prey and predator populations.
 Ecology, 56(4):855-867, 1975. https://doi.org/10.2307/1936296
- [68] P. Auger, C. Lett and J.C. Poggiale. Modélisation mathématique en écologie. Dunod, Paris, 2010.
- [69] I.M. Wangari and L. Stone. Analysis of a Heroin Epidemic model with saturated treatment function. Appl. Math, 2016:1-21, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/1953036
- [70] M.S. Abdelouahab, R. Lozi and G. Chen. Complex Canard Explosion in a Fractional-Order FitzHugh-Nagumo Model. Int. J. Bifurc. Chaos, 29(8):1950111-1950133, 2019.https://doi.org/10.1142/S0218127419501116
- [71] M.S. Abdelouahab and R. Lozi. Hopf-like bifurcation and mixed mode oscillation in a fractional-order FitzHugh-Nagumo model. AIP Conference Proceedings, 2183:100003,4-8 Sep 2019. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5136214.
- [72] W. Deng and J. Lü. Design of multidirectional multi-scroll chaotic attractors based on fractional differential systems via switching control. Chaos, 16:043120, 2006. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2401061
- [73] W. Deng and J. Lü. Generating multidirectional multi-scroll chaotic attractors via a fractional differential hysteresis system. Phys. Lett. A, 369(5-6):438-443, 2007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physleta.2007.04.112
- [74] M. Belmekki, J.J. Nieto and R. Rodriguez-Lopez. Existence of periodic solution for a nonlinear fractional differential equation. Bound. Value Probl. 2009(1):1-18, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1155/2009/324561
- [75] E. Kaslik and S. Sivasundaram. Non-existence of periodic solutions in fractional-order dynamical systems and a remarkable difference between integer and fractional-order derivatives of periodic functions. Nonlinear Anal Real Word Appl, 13(13):1489-1497, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nonrwa.2011.11.013

- [76] J. Wang, M. Feckan and Y. Zhou. Nonexistence of periodic solutions and asymptotically periodic solutions for fractional equations. Commun Nonlinear Sci, 18(2):246-256, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnsns.2012.07.004
- [77] S. Westerlund and S. Ekstam. Capacitor Theory, IEEE Transactions on Dielectrics and Electrical Insulation, 1(5):826-839, 1994. https://doi.org/10.1109/94.326654
- [78] S. Westerlund. Dead Matter Has Memory!, Causal Consulting, Kalmar, Sweden, 2002.

Abstract

In this thesis, we have presented some basic subjects that are needed to study the Bifurcations and Chaos in fractional-order systems. Namely, stability conditions and existence of periodic solutions. In order to facilitate the study of stability we have devoted the first work to extend the Routh-Hrwitz conditions to fractional systems of order $\alpha \in [0,2)$. In the second work, we extend the modification which consists of fixing the memory length and varying the lower terminal of fractional differential operators, this modification has enabled us to preserve the periodicity. to illustrate our theoretical results we have employed some numerical examples from some fractional-order systems.

Keyword: Fractional-order derivative, Bifurcations and Chaos, Stability, Routh-Hrwitz conditions, Fixed memory length, Periodic solution.

Résumé

Dans cette thèse, nous avons présenté quelques sujets de base qui sont nécessaires pour étudier la Bifurcations et le Chaos dans un système d'ordre fractionnaire. Notamment, les conditions de la stabilité et l'existence des solutions périodiques. Dans le but de faciliter l'étude de la stabilité nous avons consacré le premier travail pour prolonger les conditions de Routh-Hrwitz pour les systèmes fractionnaires d'ordre $\alpha \in [0,2)$ Dans le de le deuxième travail, nous étendons la modification qui consiste à fixer la longueur de la mémoire et à faire varier la borne inférieure des opérateurs de différentiation fractionnaire, cette modification nous a permis de conserver la périodicité. Pour illustrer nos résultats théoriques, nous avons utilisé quelques exemples numériques de certains systèmes d'ordre fractionnaire.

Mots clés . Dérivée d'ordre fractionnaire, Bifurcations et Chaos, Stabilité, Conditions de Routh-Hrwitz, Mémoire à longueur fixée, Solutions périodiques.

ملذص

في مذه الأطرومة ، قدمنا بعض المواد الأساسية اللازمة لدراسة التشعبات والفوضى في أنظمة ذات رتبة كسرية . وهي شروط الاستقرار ووجود الملول الدورية، من أجل تسميل دراسة الاستقرار ، خصصنا أول عمل لتمديد شروط روت ~ مارويتز إلى أنظمة كسرية ذات الرتبة (2,2] ع . في العمل الثاني ، قمنا بتوسيع التعديل الذي يتكون من تثبيت طول الذاكرة وتغيير الطرف السفلي في عوامل التفاضل ذات الرتب الكسرية ، وقد مكننا هذا التعديل من المغاط على الدورية . لتوضيح نتائجنا النظرية ، استخدمنا بعض الأمثلة العددية من بعض الأنظمة ذات رتبة كسرية .

كلمات مغتاجية: مشتقات خات رتبة كسرية، التشعبات والفوضى، اللإستقرار،

شروط روش~مارويتز، ذاكرة بطول ثابت، العلول الدورية.